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Managing Director's Report

Dear valuable Shareholders,

I am pleased to deliver the 2018 Financial Year Annual Report, in what can be described as a mixed year for our dear
company. 

The Global Economy 

The global economy resumed 2018 on a promising note, motivated by a pickup in global manufacturing and trade.
Investors’ confidence in the various global economic projections however lost steam. After the rapid growth of 2017,
industrial production waned, and business confidence slowed. One reason behind this loss in momentum is the
implementation of tariffs by major economies—especially the United States—and retaliatory measures taken by others,
including China. The increasingly protectionist rhetoric on trade has meant higher uncertainty about trade policy, which
weighs on future investment decisions. Despite these actions, the US economy expanded at a fast pace in 2018, as tax
cuts and spending increases stimulated demand. In Europe, the uncertainties over a “Brexit deal or no deal” further
exacerbated investor apathy on markets globally even as European companies domiciled in the United Kingdom began
to shop for other cost effective European locations to house their operations.

The US Federal Reserve has continued to raise the policy interest rate as a result. Interest rates on US long-term bonds
have increased less, as investors see risks to future growth and value the safety of US Treasury securities. 

As growth and interest rates in the United States have outpaced those in other major economies, the US dollar has 
appreciated against majority of the other currencies in 2018.  Some vulnerable emerging market economies have come 
under strain as the US dollar gained value and the level of risk that global financial investors were prepared to accept 
dropped. Most of these countries have seen increases in their external borrowing costs, but the extent of these increases 
varied widely. 

Macro-Economic Environment

The Nigerian economy remain fragile and the recovery largely weak as the GDP grew marginally ending the year at 
1.98% while the population growth increased by 3.2%. The implication of the aforementioned is that the Nigerian 
economy grew slower than the population grew pointing at increasing poverty levels. Even though the year ended with 
an inflation rate of 11.44% compared to 15.7% in December, 2017, the reduction on a month by month basis was very 
minimal and therefore had very little impact on the prices of goods and services.

The services sector bolstered growth in the economy, demonstrating its increasing importance as a key economic driver. 
The sector accounted for about half of the GDP growth and dwarfed the contributions of 10% from oil and 22% from 
agriculture respectively. The recovery benefited from greater availability of foreign exchange. Growth in agriculture was 
weak, due partly to clashes between farmers and herders coupled with flooding in key middle-belt regions and continued 
insurgency in the northeast.

The delay by the national assembly in approving the 2018 budget affected implementation and increased fiscal 
uncertainty by pushing the bulk of spending to the second half of the year. But thanks to oil revenues, a value added tax 
on luxury items, and a tax amnesty, the fiscal deficit narrowed in 2018, financed mainly by public debt.
With the relative peace in the Delta region, Nigeria’s daily crude oil production increased by 9% to 2.09 million barrels 
per day up from an average of 1.86 million barrels in 2017. However, the gains in production were affected by the 
downward spiral in the price of the Brent crude oil to $57 in December from a record of $80 in May. The oil production 
cut agreed by OPEC members and which continued through 2018 also meant that Nigeria could not benefit from the 
material gains of its increased output as it couldn’t sell above its approved quota. The increased production of US shale 
also led to an oversupply of oil in the global markets with OPEC becoming unable to control prices, a function which 
before now used to be its prerogative. 
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Key Highlights of 2018

New Business Initiatives
It has been a long but sure road to starting a new business, as our consultants and management have been careful to
analyze, validate and sometimes re-validate the various business opportunities on the table. We are very mindful of the
need to expedite this process in view of time and are confident that a decision on the business space to play in will be
reached by middle of the second quarter of 2019. 

Innovation and Technological Leadership
In the year under review, and in furtherance to deepening our service offerings leveraging on technology, we developed
the following; the FRISL mobile app; a USSD code to enable shareholders check their account status, a fixed asset
management app and purchased a number of off the shelf solutions.

The Share Registration Industry
Because the growth of the Share Registration Industry by default mirrors activities in the Capital Market, the lacuna
continued with very few listings or corporate actions witnessed over the course of the year. Only two companies got
listed namely, Notore Chemical Industries and Skyway Aviation Handling Company (SAHCO). 

As the pool of unclaimed dividends continues to shrink coupled with increasing regulation, mid to smaller registrar
outfits might wind up hence a continued consolidation of the industry with Mergers and acquisition remains. We will
continue to scan for right fit companies with similar philosophies and sizeable clientele base over the course of the new
financial year.

The Capital Market
The Nigerian Capital market failed to reach the heights of the previous year as it closed the year with a loss of 17.8% or -
6,812.69 points. Investor uncertainty was driven largely by pre-election scares, trade tensions between the United States
and China, volatile commodity prices and monetary tightening by the United States. Investors lost 13.9% or in monetary
terms, N 1.9 Trillion of their investment value. At the close of trading on 31st of December, market capitalization stood
at N11.720 Trillion compared to N13.609 Trillion in 2017. From the high plateau of the previous year as the best
performing Exchange in Africa, the Nigerian Stock Exchange crumbled to the abyss, ending the year as one of the worst
performing bourses in Africa in 2018.

The Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) also implemented some initiatives over the course of the year. Through 
its Capital Market Committee, it extended the forbearance period for shareholders with multiple accounts to December 
2019.  It also expressed its plans to tackle the perennial challenges associated with the transmission of shares related to 
the estate of deceased investors via a two pronged approach, the first stage being the engagement with and 
enlightenment of the Probate Registry with a view to providing solutions to the complicated process of transmitting 
shares and the second being to develop rules around the time frame for transmission of shares and accompanying fee 
structure. Finally, pursuant to boosting its e-dividend mandate and Direct Cash Settlement initiatives, the commission 
announced plans to facilitate Identity validation and account validation in an effort to enhance market processes in 
2019.

Right-Sizing Exercise

In furtherance to driving down on costs, we embarked on a right-sizing exercise in the year under review which saw over 
30 employees leave the organization. We had of course prepared the workforce for life after paid employment by 
empowering them with trainings on entrepreneurship. We are therefore very confident that majority of the affected 
individuals are doing well in their chosen businesses majorly financed with the severance packages that they received 
from the company.
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The International Monetary Fund (IMF) expects the global economy to grow by 3.7% year on year(y/y) in 2019, down 
0.2 percentage points from its July 2018 outlook. This is to be driven by the unwinding of fiscal and monetary stimulus 
in Advanced Economies (AE), capital reversals from Emerging & Developing Economies (EMDE), and trade tensions 
between the United States and China. The Fund projects 2.1% y/y GDP growth in AEs, 0.1 percentage points lower than 
its previous outlook, and 4.7% y/y GDP growth in EMDEs, 0.4 percentage points down from its previous outlooks. 

The IMF also downgraded growth expectations for the world’s two largest economies—and the main actors in the trade 
war —The United States: 0.2 percentage points lower to 2.5% y/y; China: 0.2 percentage points lower to 6.2% y/y. Even 
though, both countries have been at the negotiating table for weeks now with the objective of ending the commercial 
hostilities which began in July, 2018.
Also, the 2019 GDP outlook for Sub-Saharan Africa has been revised downwards by the IMF to 3.5% from 3.8% GDP 
growth while its earlier forecast for Nigeria of 2.3% has also been revised downwards to 2% as a result of declining and 
volatile oil prices.  Even though the Fund has forecasted a rise in inflation to 13.1%, the Federal Government of Nigeria is 
insisting that it will continue its tapering down towards a single digit of 9.98% in 2019. It is however believed in many 
circles that effect of the approved minimum wage with play a major role in determining the direction of inflation in the 
New Year.
The World Bank on its part expects oil prices to average $67 a barrel in 2019 and 2020, down $2 compared to 
projections from June last year. However, according to it, uncertainty around the forecast is high. The other key 
uncertainties about oil prices will be the impact of the U.S. sanctions on Iran when the oil production waivers end in 
early May, as well as the production in Venezuela, which has been steadily falling over the past two years.

The United States, powered by the massive Shale Revolution is now the largest crude oil producer in the world, 
surpassing Russia and Saudi Arabia with its 11.4 million barrels production per day thereby causing an oversupply of 
crude oil in the global markets. Its daily production is expected to rise by a further 1million barrels per day in 2019. The 
outlook for the supply of oil is uncertain as it largely hinges on OPEC and allies’ decisions about production levels, 
especially after the first half of 2019, according to the World Bank. “While these producers have agreed to cut output by 
1.2mb/d for six months starting January 2019, few details have been forthcoming about the distribution of the cuts, and 
they may prove insufficient to reduce the oversupply of oil.
In view of the above, the $60 oil price per barrel benchmark presented to the National Assembly by the President in 
December 2018 may need to be revised downward. It is hoped that the Federal Government will hasten its commitment 
to Infrastructural development so that the execution of the Economic Recovery and Growth Plan (ERGP) can achieve the 
desired results of diversifying the Nigerian economy away from oil. The success of the aforementioned will however lie 
on speedy passage of the 2019 Budget of Continuity by the National Assembly. 

FRISL Office Complex
As I informed you in our 2017 Report, we finally moved into our own office complex in the second quarter of 2018.

The 2019 Outlook

Financial Performance

Mandates Won

The reduction in investible funds occasioned by SEC’s E- Mandate drive and directive for Registrars to return 90% of all 
unclaimed dividends of 15 months and above to client companies adversely affected our financial performance in the 
year under review as we recorded a loss for the year of N 150,745,000 (One Hundred and Fifty Million, Seven Hundred 
and Forty Five Thousand Naira Only). Our operating expenses also increased slightly to N 2,110,603,000 (Two Billion, 
One Hundred and Ten Million, Six Hundred and Three Thousand) up by 7.46% from N 1,964, 047,000 in 2017. This 
increase was attributable to the implementation of the upward salary review of our workforce and inflationary pressures 
on the costs of doing business as the impact in the reduction of the official inflation rate is yet to be felt. The above 
performance therefore calls for the need for us to quickly finalize upon our diversification drive and to continue seeking 
for high interest investments while managing our costs going forward.

We won 9 new accounts over the course of the year, among which was Skyway Aviation Handling Company (SAHCO). 
We will continue to upscale our marketing drive to secure more accounts in the New Year.
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Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

For the year ended 31 December 2018

Notes 31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17
N'000 N'000

Fee income 5              554,734             522,048 
Impairment charge on financial assets 6 (28,170)              (63,194)

Net income after impairment charges on financial assets              526,564             458,854 

Recoveries on non financial assets 6b                58,598                           - 

Other income 7               254,512              186,124 

Operating expenses 8         (2,110,603)        (1,964,047)

Operating loss         (1,270,929)         (1,319,069)

Interest income 9           1,227,068           1,969,697 

Interest expenses 10               (17,647)              (35,358)

Share of profit of associate accounted for using the equity method 16                 92,757                68,163 

Profit before tax                 31,249             683,433 

Taxation 24             (181,994)                (9,547)

(Loss)/Profit for the year         (150,745)           673,886 

Other comprehensive income:

Re-measurements of defined benefit obligations 25               (11,844)             (48,906)

Fair value gain on FVOCI investment securities 26               122,180                         -   

Income tax relating to these items 19                           -              (59,260)
              110,336            (108,166)

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Fair value gain on available for sale investment securities 26 -                                 967,972 

                          -              967,972 

Other comprehensive income for the year net of tax 110,336             859,806           
Total comprehensive (Loss)/income for the year (40,409)         1,533,692     

(Loss)/earning per share - basic & diluted (Naira) 27                  (0.30)                     1.35 

The statement of accounting policies and accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
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For the year ended 31 December 2018

Share capital Fair value
 reserve

Retained 
earnings

Total equity

N'000 N'000 N'000 N'000
Balance at 1 January 2017 500,000                                             -   2,238,626              2,738,626                   

Total comprehensive income:
Profit for the year                              -                                  -   673,886 673,886                      

                            -                                  -                     (108,166) (108,166)                     
                   967,972                                  - 967,972                      

Total comprehensive income for the year                             -   967,972                  565,720                  1,533,692

Transaction with owners:
                            -                                  -                    (249,570)                      (249,570)
           500,000                 967,972              2,554,776                 4,022,748 

Balance at 1 January 2018 500,000 967,972                  2,554,776               4,022,748
Changes on initial application of IFRS 9 (126,286) (126,286)
Total comprehensive income:
Loss for the year                              -                                  -   (150,745) (150,745)

                            -                                  -   (11,844) (11,844)
                            -   122,180                                -   122,180

Total comprehensive income for the year                             -   122,180 (288,875) (166,695)

Transaction with owners:
                            -                                  -   (500,000) (500,000)

                                                                                                            
500,000 1,090,152 1,765,901 3,356,053

Balance at 31 December 2017

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Fair value of FVOCI investment securities

Dividend paid to equity holders

Balance at 31 December 2018

Remeasurement of defined benefit obligation, net of tax

Dividend paid to equity holders

Remeasurement of defined benefit obligation, net of tax

Fair value of available for sale investment securities
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Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2018

Notes 31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17
N'000 N'000

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax                 31,249                 683,433 

Adjustments for:
Fee income             (554,734)               (522,048)
Dividend income             (149,164)                   (71,748)
Impairment charge on financial assets 6                 28,170                    63,194 
Provision on litigation                 56,198                             -   
Loss/(profit) on disposal of property and equipment 7,8                      204                       (200)
Amortization 8                 28,727                    14,492 
Depreciation 8                123,121                    90,221 
Interest income 9         (1,227,068)             (1,969,697)
Interest expenses 10                  17,647                    35,358 
Foreign exchange losses/(gains) 8                         13                          594 
Share of profit of equity-accounted investee 16.2               (92,757)                  (68,163)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
(Decrease)/Increase in loans and other accounts receivable             (143,627)               1,237,084 
Decrease in other assets               (28,476)                (153,274)
Decrease in retirement benefit asset             (113,806)                (120,349)
(Decrease)/increase in funds awaiting remittance        (6,056,388)               5,192,953 
(Decrease)/(increase) in other liabilities             (109,012)              1,228,434 

Cash used in operating activities         (8,189,702)              5,640,284 

Fee received               554,734                             -   
Interest paid               (17,647)                  (35,358)
Withholding Taxes Paid               (14,707)                             -   
Tax paid 24.1               (25,819)                (124,227)
Net cash used in operating activities          (7,693,141)              5,480,699 

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale/redemption of investment securities          17,621,297               3,955,221 
Purchase of investment securities       (17,778,208)             (1,783,137)
Purchase of intangible assets 17               (50,837)                  (45,143)
Purchase of property and equipment 18             (618,921)                (406,141)
Acquisition of equity-accounted investee 16                          -               (1,242,373)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment                         40                         200 
Dividend received on equity-accounted investee                 35,496                             -   
Dividend received               149,164                     71,748 
Interest received           1,227,068               1,969,697 
Net cash used in investing activities              585,099               2,520,071 
Cash flows from financing activities
Interim dividend paid           (500,000)                (249,570)
Net cash used in financing activities           (500,000)                (249,570)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents        (7,608,042)               7,751,200 
Cash and cash equivalents at start of year          12,128,193              4,376,993 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 11.1            4,520,151             12,128,193 
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1

2

2.1

2.2

The Company is a private company incorporated and domiciled in Nigeria. The address of its registered office is No 2, 
Abebe Village Road, Iganmu, Lagos.

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 14 May 2019. The directors 
have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements.

Summary of significant accounting policies

Introduction to summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies 

Basis of preparation

Notes to the Financial Statements

General information
Reporting Entity

First Registrars & Investor Services Limited (hereinafter called "the Company") was incorporated as First Registrars 
Nigeria Limited on 19 May 1999. It obtained a license to provide registrar’s services from the Securities and Exchange 
Commission and commenced business operation on 1 April 2000. 

The Company is established to provide share administration and custodian services. This includes administration and 
maintenance of companies share registers, share registration, verification of share transfers, transmission and payment of 
dividends and organisation of annual general meetings.

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 have been prepared in accordance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). Additional 
information required by national regulations is included where appropriate. 

The financial statements comprise the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of 
financial position, the statement of changes in equity, the statement of cash flows and the notes to the financial 
statements.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the going concern principle under the historical cost 
concept, except for fair value through other comprehensive icnome (FVOCI) financial assets, which are measured at fair 
value. The financial statements are presented in thousands of Nigerian Naira (N'000).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. 
It also requires management to exercise judgement in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. The 
areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to 
the financial statements, are disclosed in Note 4.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.3
a)

b)

2.4

2.4.1

2.4.2

Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates ('the functional currency'). The functional currency and presentation currency 
of the Company is the Nigerian Naira (N). 

Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates 
of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of foreign currency transactions and 
from the translation at exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the 
Company's functional currency are recognized in profit or loss. Monetary items denominated in foreign currency are 
translated using the closing rate as at the reporting date.

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

Except for the changes below, the company has consistently applied the accounting policies as set out in Note 2.6 - 2.17 to 
all periods presented in these financial statements. 

Foreign currency transactions

As at 31 December 2018, a number of standards and interpretations, and amendments thereto, had been issued by the 
IASB which are not yet effective for these financial statements. The following are the standards that may have a material 
impact on the Company's financial statements. The Company has not early adopted any of these standards.

New Standards and amendments applicable 1 January 2018

IFRS 9 - Financial instruments effective 1 January 2018
The company has adopted IFRS 9 with a transition date of 1 January 2018. This resulted in changes in accounting policies 
and adjustments to the amount previously recognised in the financial statement. This is disclosed in note 2.5 and 4.2.

As permitted by the transitional provisions of IFRS 9, the company elected not to restate comparative figures. Any 
adjustments to the carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities at the date of transition were recognised in the 
opening retained earnings and other reserves of the current period.

IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers effective 1 January 2018
IFRS 15 provides a single, principles based five-step model to be applied to all contracts with customers.
The five steps in the model are Identification of the contract with the customer, Identification of the performance 
obligations in the contract, Determination of the transaction price, Allocation of the transaction price to the performance 
obligations in the contracts, and Recognition of revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation. The 
standard permits a modified retrospective approach for the adoption. Under this approach, entities will recognise 
transitional adjustments in retained earnings on the date of initial application without restating comparative period. They 
will only need to apply the new rules to contracts that are not completed as of the date of initial application. Management 
has assessed the impact of the new rules and identified that the standard does not have significant impact on the 
company's financial statements.

New Standards, amendments, interpretations issued but not yet effective as at 31 December 2018
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Title Subject of amendment
IFRS 16 Leases (effective 1 
January 2019)

The IASB issued the new standard for accounting for leases - IFRS 16 Leases in January 
2016. The new standard does not significantly change the accounting for leases for lessors. 
However it requires lessees to recognise most leases on their statements of financial position 
as lease liabilities, with the corresponding right-of-use assets. Lessees must apply a single 
model for all recognised leases, but will have the option not to recognise ‘short-term’ leases 
and leases of ‘low-value’ assets. Generally, the profit or loss recognition pattern for 
recognised leases will be similar to today’s finance lease accounting, with interest and 
depreciation expense recognised separately in the income statement.

Lessees must adopt IFRS 16 using either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective 
approach.

The company intends to adopt IFRS 16 not later than  the accounting period beginning on or 
after January 2019. The company is assessing the impact of this standard.

Plan Amendment, 
Curtailment or Settlement 
– Amendments to IAS 19 
(effective 1 January 2019)

The amendments to IAS 19 clarify the accounting for defined benefit plan amendments, 
curtailments and settlements. They confirm that entities must :
- calculate the current service cost and net interest for the remainder of the reporting period 
after a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement by using the updated assumptions from 
the date of the change.
-  any reduction in a surplus should be recognised immediately in profit or loss either as part 
of past service cost, or as a gain or loss on settlement. In other words, a reduction in a 
surplus must be recognised in profit or loss even if that surplus was not previously 
recognised because of the impact of the asset ceiling.
- separately recognise any changes in the asset ceiling through other comprehensive income.
The company intends to adopt this amendments not later than  the accounting period 
beginning on or after January 2019. The company is assessing the impact of this standard.

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over 
Income Tax Treatments

The interpretation explains how to recognise and measure deferred and current income tax 
assets and liabilities where there is uncertainty over a tax treatment. In particular, it 
discusses:
- how to determine the appropriate unit of account, and that each uncertain tax treatment 
should be considered separately or together as a group, depending on which approach better 
predicts the resolution of the uncertainty
- that the entity should assume a tax authority will examine the uncertain tax treatments and 
have full knowledge of all related information, ie that detection risk should be ignored
- that the entity should reflect the effect of the uncertainty in its income tax accounting when 
it is not probable that the tax authorities will accept the treatment
- that the impact of the uncertainty should be measured using either the most likely amount 
or the expected value method, depending on which method better predicts the resolution of 
the uncertainty, and
- that the judgements and estimates made must be reassessed whenever circumstances have 
changed or there is new information that affects the judgements.
The company intends to adopt this interpretation not later than  the accounting period in 
which it is effective. The company is assessing the impact of this interpretation.
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2.5

2.5.1

a)

Regular-way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on settlement date which is the date on which the 
Company parts with or receives economic resources for the purchase or sale of the asset. Financial assets are 
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the 
group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Derecognition of a financial liability occurs only when the obligation is extinguished. A financial liability is said to be 
extinguished when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expired.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial instruments
Accounting policy applied from 1 January 2018
Recognition and derecognition 
Financial instruments are recognised initially when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument.

The business model assessment is one of the two steps to classify financial assets. The business model assessment of the 
Company’s financial instruments is performed at a level that reflects how groups of financial assets are managed together 
to achieve a particular business objective.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial position if, 
and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle 
on a net basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. Income and expense will not be offset in 
profit or loss unless required or permitted by any accounting standard or interpretation, as specifically disclosed in the 
accounting policies of the Company.

Financial assets

Classification
The Company’s financial assets include cash and short term deposits, loans and other receivables, other assets, quoted 
equity instruments, treasury bills and bonds. The Company classifies its financial assets in the following categories:
- Amortised Cost,
- Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI), and

Classification of debt instruments
Management classifies its financial assets into any of the asset categories above on the basis of both: 
'-         The Company’s business model for managing the financial assets.
·         The contractual cash flows characteristics of the financial assets.

1.      Business Model Assessment
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Judgment is needed to determine the level of aggregation to which the business model assessment is applied. That 
determination is made on the basis of how the Company manages its business, it is not made at the level of an individual 
asset, rather the Company performs this assessment at a higher level of aggregation which is at a portfolio level.

If cash flows are realised in a way that is different from the Company’s expectations at the date that the Company assessed 
the business model (for example, if the Company sells more or fewer financial assets than it expected when it classified 
the assets), this does not:
·            give rise to a prior period error in the Company’s financial statements (as defined in IAS 8 Accounting policies, 
changes in accounting estimates and errors)
·            change the classification of the remaining financial assets held in that business model (i.e., those assets that the 
Company recognised in prior periods and still holds), as long as the Company has considered all relevant information that 
was available at the time that it made the business model assessment.

However, when the Company assesses the business model for newly originated or newly purchased financial assets, it 
considers information about how cash flows were realised in the past, along with all other relevant information. Where 
there was a change in the way that cash flows are realised, then this will affect the classification of new assets recognised 
in the future. 

Where the Company’s objective is to hold a group of financial assets to collect the contractual cashflows and then to sell 
those financial assets, the portfolio of assets are classified under the ‘hold to collect and sell’ business model. The FVOCI 
measurement category is mandatory for portfolios of financial assets that are held within a business model whose 
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets (provided the asset also meets 
the contractual cash flow test).

Collecting contractual cash flows and selling are fundamental to achieving the objective of the business model.
Compared to the business model with an objective to hold financial assets to collect contractual cash flows, this business 
model will typically involve greater frequency and value of sales. This is because selling financial assets is integral to 
achieving the business model's objective rather than only incidental to it. There is no threshold for the frequency or value 
of sales that can or must occur in this business model.

Hold-to-collect business model
Where the Company’s objective is to hold the asset (or portfolio of assets) to collect the contractual cashflows, the asset 
(or portfolio of assets) are classified under the ‘hold to collect’ business model. Financial assets that are held within this 
business model are measured at amortised cost (provided the asset also meets the contractual cash flow test – see below). 
Such assets are managed to realise cash flows by collecting contractual payments over the life of the instrument.

In determining whether cash flows are going to be realised by collecting the financial assets’ contractual cash flows, the 
Company considers the frequency and value of sales in prior periods, the timing of the sale of assets, the reasons for those 
sales, and the Company’s expectations about future sales activity. 

In accordance with IFRS 9, sales in themselves do not determine the business model and cannot be considered in 
isolation. However, information about past sales and expectations about future sales provide evidence related to how the 
Company’s stated objective for managing the financial assets is achieved and, specifically, how cash flows are realised.

Hold-to-collect (contractual cash flows) and sell
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Other business models
IFRS 9 requires financial assets to be measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) if they are not held within 
either a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or within a business model 
whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets. 

A business model that results in measurement at FVTPL is where the financial assets are held for trading or where the 
assets are managed on a fair value basis. In each case, the Company manages the financial assets with the objective of 
realising cash flows through the sale of the assets. The Company makes decisions based on the assets’ fair values and 
manages the assets to realise those fair values. 

The Company may acquire an investment in an equity instrument that is not held for trading. At initial recognition, the 
Company may make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to present changes in fair value in 
other comprehensive income rather than profit or loss. 

Amounts presented in OCI are not subsequently transferred to profit or loss, even on derecognition. However, the 
cumulative gain or loss are transferred within equity. Equity investments are not subject to any impairment assessments 
in line with the standard.

Dividends from such investments are recognised in profit or loss when the right to receive payment is probable and can 
be measured reliably, unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment, in which case 
they are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

2.     The contractual cash flows assessment – the Solely Payments of Principal and Interest (SPPI) test
This assessment aims to identify whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest on the 
principal amount outstanding.
The SPPI test is based on the premise that it is only when the variability in the contractual cash flows arises to maintain 
the holder’s return in line with a ‘basic lending arrangement’ that the application of the effective interest method provides 
useful information about the uncertainty, timing and amount of the financial asset’s contractual cashflows. 

The effective interest method is essentially to spread interest revenue or expense over time. Amortised cost or FVOCI 
measurement is only appropriate for simple cash flows that have low variability such as those of loans and receivables and 
debt securities.

Classification of equity instruments

The company has made an irrevocable election to measure its equity investments at FVOCI.
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i) Amortised Cost

ii) Fair value through Other Comprehensive Income
For the Company’s investment in debt instruments  measured at FVOCI, all movements in fair value should be taken 
through other comprehensive income except for the recognition of impairment losses, interest revenue in line with the 
effective interest rate method, foreign exchange gains and losses arising on derecognition of the asset which are 
recognised in the profit or loss.

Therefore, fair value changes will be split in the interest income on an effective interest basis (which are posted to profit 
or loss) and fair value gains or losses (which are posted to other comprehensive income).

All equity investments  held by the Company are required to be measured at fair value through profit or loss. However, 
the Company can make the irrevocable election to present in other comprehensive income changes in the fair value of an 
investment in an equity instrument that is not held for trading. Where the Company elects the irrevocable option, 
amounts presented in other comprehensive income shall not be subsequently transferred to profit or loss. Nevertheless, 
the Company may transfer the cumulative gain or loss within equity. Dividends on such equity instruments are 
recognised in profit or loss in ‘Dividend income’ when the Company’s right to receive payment is established.

Financial instruments are measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method. 
The amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset or liability is 
measured at initial recognition minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation of any difference 
between that initial amount and the maturity amount, and for financial assets, adjusted for any impairment allowance.

The impairment loss is reported as a deduction from the carrying value of the loan (using an allowance account) and 
recognised in profit or loss as ‘impairment charge on financial assets’.

Effective interest rate method
The effective interest method is a method used in calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability 
and in the allocation and recognition of the interest income or expense in profit or loss over the relevant period. 

The effective interest method differs from the straight-line method in that the amortisation under the effective interest 
method reflects a constant return on the carrying amount of the asset or the liability. The effective interest rate is the rate 
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts, over the expected life of the financial instrument to 
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset or to the amortised cost of a financial liability. It is the internal rate of 
return of the financial asset or liability for that period. 

 Impairment of financial assets
The Company assesses on a forward looking basis, the expected credit losses (“ECL”) associated with its debt instruments 
carried at amortised cost and FVOCI.

General Approach
Under the general approach, at each reporting date, the Company recognises a loss allowance based on either 12-month 
ECLs or lifetime ECLs, depending on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk on the financial 
instrument since initial recognition. The changes in the loss allowance balance are recognised in profit or loss as an 
impairment gain or loss. The general approach is applied on financial assets other than trade receivables.

23



First Registrars  & Investor Services Limited
Financial statements  

31 December 2018

Notes to the Financial Statements

The amount of ECLs recognised as a loss allowance or provision depends on the extent of credit deterioration since initial 
recognition. Under the general approach, there are two measurement bases:
·         12-month ECLs (Stage 1), which applies to all items (from initial recognition) as long as there is no significant 
deterioration in credit quality
·         Lifetime ECLs (Stages 2 and 3), which applies when a significant increase in credit risk has occurred on an 
individual or collective basis or when a loan becomes credit impaired respectively.

Staging
Stage 1:  On origination, a financial asset (provided that it is not a purchased or originated credit impaired asset) will be 
in stage 1 of the general model for expected credit losses. Financial assets that have not had a significant increase in credit 
risk since initial recognition or that (upon assessment and option selected by the Company) have low credit risk at the 
reporting date remain in stage 1. 

For these assets, 12-month expected credit losses (‘ECL’) are recognised and interest revenue is calculated on the gross 
carrying amount of the asset (that is, without deduction for credit allowance). 12-month ECL are the ECL that result from 
default events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. It is not the expected cash shortfalls over the 12-
month period but the entire credit loss on an asset, weighted by the probability that the loss will occur in the next 12 
months.

Stage 2: Financial instruments that have had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition (unless they 
have low credit risk at the reporting date and this option is taken by the Company) but that do not have objective evidence 
of impairment. For these assets, lifetime ECL are recognised and interest revenue is still calculated on the gross carrying 
amount of the asset. 

Lifetime ECL are the ECL that result from all possible default events over the maximum contractual period during which 
the Company is exposed to credit risk. ECL are the weighted average credit losses, with the respective risks of a default 
occurring as the weights. 

The Company, when determining whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly, considers 
reasonable and supportable (both historical and forward-looking) information available, in order to compare the risk of a 
default occurring at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring at initial recognition of the financial 
instrument.

Stage 3: This includes financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at the reporting date. For these assets, 
lifetime ECLs are recognised and interest revenue is calculated on the net carrying amount (that is, net of credit 
allowance). This is done by applying the EIR in subsequent reporting periods to the amortised cost of the financial asset.

When the Company has no reasonable expectations of recovering the financial asset, then the gross carrying amount of 
the financial asset can be directly reduced in its entirety via a write off. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
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The simplified approach does not require the Company to track the changes in credit risk, but, instead, requires the 
Company to recognise a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date, right from origination.

The Company recognizes lifetime ECLs at each reporting period for trade receivables or other receivables that result from 
transactions within the scope of IFRS 15 and that do not contain a significant financing component.

Measurement of expected credit losses
The standard defines credit loss as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Company in 
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Company expects to receive (i.e., all cash shortfalls), 
discounted at the original EIR

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life of the financial instrument (i.e., the 
weighted average of credit losses with the respective risks of a default occurring as the weights).

When measuring ECLs, in order to derive an unbiased and probability-weighted amount, the Company evaluates a range 
of possible outcomes. This involves identifying possible scenarios that specify:

Simplified approach

c. Exposure at default (EAD): The EAD estimates the percentage of exposure the Company might lose if the borrower 
defaults.

Probability of default (PD)
12 Month PDs
12 month PD is the probability of a loan defaulting within the next 12 months. 12-month PD estimates are required to 
calculate 12-month ECLs for accounts classified as Stage 1. These PD estimates also form the basis of the lifetime PD 
curves, which are required to calculate lifetime ECLs for accounts classified as Stage 2. 

a. The amount and timing of the cash flows for particular outcomes
b. The estimated probability of these outcomes

Risk inputs for expected credit losses calculation
Expected credit losses are determined by multiplying the following risk inputs:
a.      Probability of default (PD): The PD is the risk that the borrower will be unable or unwilling to repay its debt in full or 
on time. The risk of default is derived by analysing the obligor’s capacity to repay the debt in accordance with contractual 
terms. PD is generally associated with financial characteristics such as inadequate cash flow to service debt, declining 
revenues or operating margins, high leverage, declining or marginal liquidity, and the inability to successfully implement 
a business plan. 

b.      Loss given default (LGD): The LGD is the credit loss incurred if an obligor defaults and is dependent on the 
characteristics of the loan. Losses are influenced by the presence of collateral and when no collateral exists the cash flows 
that the borrower pays after default determine the LGD of the loan.
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2.5.2

2.5.3

a)

Lifetime PDs
Lifetime PD curves are required to calculate expected credit losses for Stage 2 accounts. Ideally, lifetime PD curves should 
be developed based on internal default data. However, the Company does not have sufficient history of internal default 
data to build credible curves so it has derived lifetime PD curves using S & P’s “2017 Annual Sovereign Default Study and 
Rating Transition”.

After initial recognition, financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate 
method. Gains and losses are recognized in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognized as well as 
through the effective interest rate method (EIR) amortization process. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account 
any discount or premium on acquisition and fee or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The 
effective interest rate amortization is included in finance cost in profit or loss.

Accounting policy applied until 31 December 2017

Loss given default (LGD)

LGD is the share of an asset that is lost when a borrower defaults. The recovery rate is defined as 1 minus the LGD, the 
share of an asset that is recovered when a borrower defaults. Loss given default is facility-specific because such losses are 
generally understood to be influenced by key transaction characteristics such as the presence of collateral and the degree 
of subordination. 

Exposure at default (EAD)
EAD is equal to the current amount outstanding at the expected point of default in case of fixed exposures like staff loans 
and investment securities. This is derived using the original carrying amount, interest rate and tenor of the facility.

 Financial liabilities 

The Company’s financial liabilities include: accrued expenses, trade and other payables (classified as other liabilities).

The Company’s financial assets include cash and short term deposits, loan and other receivables, staff loans, quoted 
equity instruments, treasury bills and bonds. The Company classifies its financial assets in the following categories:
- loans and receivables,
- held-to-maturity investments, and
- available-for-sale financial assets.
The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired. Management determines the 
classification of its investments at initial recognition and, in the case of assets classified as held-to-maturity, re-evaluates 
this designation at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets are recognized initially at fair value plus, in the case 
of investments not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

Financial assets
Classification
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b) Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:
i) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. After initial measurement, loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost, using the effective 
interest rate, less allowance for impairment. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium 
on acquisition and fee or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate 
amortization is included in ‘Net interest income’ in profit or loss. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when 
the investments are derecognized or impaired, as well as through the amortization process.

The Company's loans and receivables comprise cash and bank balances, placements with financial institutions, loans and 
advances, fee receivables and other receivables.

Available -for-sale investments are financial assets that are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time, which 
may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, exchange rates or equity prices or that are not 
classified as loans and receivables, held to maturity investments or financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Loans and other accounts receivable comprises loan balances due from the Company's clients and staff and fees 
receivable from the Company's clients for registrar services rendered to them. Loans are initially recognised when cash is 
advanced to the obligors at fair value inclusive of transaction costs. Loans and advances are derecognised when the rights 
to receive cash flows from the obligors have expired or where the Company has transferred substantially all risks and 
rewards of ownership.

Interest on loans is included in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as part of 'Net interest 
income'. In the case of impairment, the impairment loss is reported as a deduction from the carrying value of the loan and 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as 'impairment charge on financial assets'.

ii) Held-to-maturity financial assets

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed determinable payments and fixed maturities 
that management has both the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity other than:
•  those that the Company designates as available for sale;
•  those that upon initial recognition has been designated as at fair value through profit or loss; and     
•  those that meet the definition of loans and receivables.
Such instruments as government bonds and treasury bills are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, less impairment allowance, if any.  

Held to maturity investments are measured subsequent to initial recognition at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate. Interest income on the held to maturity financial assets is recognised in interest income in the statement of profit or 
loss. The Company's held to maturity instruments comprise of treasury bills and state government bonds.                                                                                                                                                                                                                             

iii) Available-for-sale financial assets
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b)

Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognised at fair value, which is the cash consideration including any 
transaction costs, and measured subsequently at fair value with gains and losses being recognised in other comprehensive 
income, except for impairment losses until the financial asset is derecognised. The fair value reserve is transferred to 
profit or loss on derecognition of available for sale financial assets. If an available-for-sale financial asset is determined to 
be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised aspart of 
'Impairment charge on financial assets' in profit or loss. Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are 
recognised in statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as part of ‘Other income’ when the Company’s 
right to receive payment is established.

 Impairment of financial assets
The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired. A 
financial asset is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result 
of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) 
has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset that can be reliably estimated. The criteria that the 
Company uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss include:

(a) a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;
(b) significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

For an investment in equity security, objective evidence of impairment includes a significant or prolonged decline in its 
fair value below its cost. 

For financial assets measured at amortized cost, the Company first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment 
exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets 
that are not individually significant. If the Company determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an 
individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with 
similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for 
impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment 
of impairment. All impairment losses are recognized in impairment of financial assets in the statement of profit or loss.

(c) it becomes probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
(d) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; or
(e) observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a debtor's 
business since the initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet be identified with the debtor's 
cashflows, including:

(i) adverse changes in the payment status of the debtor
(ii) national economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the debtor's business.

The estimated period between a loss occurring and its identification is determined by management for each identified 
debtor/transaction. The periods used vary between one month and three months; in exceptional cases, longer periods are 
warranted.

28



First Registrars  & Investor Services Limited
Financial statements  

31 December 2018

Notes to the Financial Statements

2.5.4

Impairment losses on available for sale financial assets are recognised by reclassifying the losses accumulated in the fair 
value reserve to profit or loss. The amount reclassified is the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair 
value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in profit or loss. If the fair value of an impaired available for sale 
debt security subsequently increases and the increase can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment loss was recognised, then the impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss. Impairment losses 
recognised in profit or loss for investment in equity instrument classified as available for sale are not reversed through 
profit or loss.

 Financial liabilities 
The Company’s financial liabilities include: accrued expenses, trade and other payables and are classified as other 
liabilities.
After initial recognition, financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate 
method. Gains and losses are recognized in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognized as well as 
through the effective interest rate method (EIR) amortization process. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account 
any discount or premium on acquisition and fee or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The 
effective interest rate amortization is included in finance cost in profit or loss.

Fair value of financial instruments

A number of the Company’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both financial 
and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes 
based on the following methods. Where applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair 
values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability.

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company uses observable data as far as possible. Fair values 
are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as 
follows:

Level 1: Quoted market price in an active market for an identical instrument.

Level 2: Valuation techniques based on observable inputs either directly- i.e. as prices or indirectly- i.e. derived from 
prices. This category includes instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments; 
quoted prices for similar instruments in markets that are considered less than active; or other valuation techniques where 
all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data.

Level 3: This includes financial instruments, the valuation of which incorporate significant inputs for the asset or liability 
that is not based on observable market date (unobservable inputs). Unobservable inputs are those not readily available in 
an active market due to market illiquidity or complexity of the product. These inputs are generally determined based on 
inputs of a similar nature, historic observations on the level of the input or analytical techniques. 

The Company recognises transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period during which 
the change has occurred.
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2.6

2.7

2.7.1

2.8

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand, short-term deposits and Treasury bills with an original 
maturity of three months or less in the statement of financial position which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in 
their fair value, and are used by the Company in the management of its short-term commitments.

For the purpose of the cash flow, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of 
outstanding bank overdrafts.

Investment in associate

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there 
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortization period and the amortization method for an 
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end. 

Associates are all entities over which the Company has significant influence but not control or joint control. This is 
generally the case where the group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are 
accounted for using the equity method of accounting (see 2.7.1 below), after initially being recognised at cost.

Equity method
Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to 
recognise the Company’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Company’s 
share of movements in other comprehensive income of the investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends received 
or receivable from associates are recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

When the Company’s share of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity, 
including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the Company does not recognise further losses, unless it has 
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Company and its associate are eliminated to the extent of the Company’s 
interest in these entities. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment 
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity accounted investees have been changed where necessary to ensure 
consistency with the policies adopted by the Company.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for impairment in accordance with the policy described in 
note 2.10.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in 
a business combination is their fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are 
carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses. Internally generated 
intangible assets, excluding capitalized development costs, are not capitalized and such expenditure is reflected in profit 
or loss in the year in which the expenditure is incurred.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. The Company does not have an intangible 
asset with an indefinite useful life.

30



First Registrars  & Investor Services Limited
Financial statements  

31 December 2018

Notes to the Financial Statements

2.9

Period
Not depreciated

50 years
4 years
4 years
5 years
3 years

2.10

Property and equipment, including owner-occupied property, is stated at cost, excluding the costs of day-to-day servicing, 
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Replacement or major inspection costs are capitalized 
when incurred and if it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the entity and the 
cost of the item can be measured reliably. 
When parts of an item of property or equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items 
(major components) of property and equipment.
Depreciation is provided on a straight line basis over the useful lives of the following classes of assets: 

Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the 
asset are accounted for by changing the amortization period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in 
accounting estimates. The amortization expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognized in the statement of 
profit or loss in the expense category consistent with the function of the intangible asset.

The Company’s intangible assets consist of computer software with a useful life of 3 years.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount and are recognised in statement of profit or loss.

Property and equipment

Computer equipment 

The assets’ residual values, and useful lives and method of depreciation are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at each 
financial year end.

Impairment reviews are performed when there are indicators that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Impairment 
losses are recognized in profit or loss as an expense. An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or 
when no further future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition 
of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is 
included in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognized.

 Impairment of non-financial assets

Asset Class
Leasehold land
Buildings
Motor vehicles 
Furniture & fittings 
Office equipment 

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such 
indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Company estimates the asset’s 
recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit's (CGU) fair value 
less costs to sell and its value in use. The recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does 
not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying 
amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its 
recoverable amount. 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining 
fair value less costs to sell, recent market transactions are taken into account, if available. If no such transactions can be 
identified, an appropriate valuation model is used.
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2.11

2.11.1

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that 
previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the 
Company makes an estimate of the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount. A previously recognized impairment loss is 
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last 
impairment loss was recognized. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable 
amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
amortization, had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognized in profit or 
loss unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case, the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.

Income taxes
 
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from 
or paid to the tax authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or 
substantively enacted by the reporting date in Nigeria. Current income tax assets and liabilities also include adjustments 
for tax expected to be payable or recoverable in respect of previous periods.

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognized in profit or loss in those expense categories consistent with 
the function of the impaired asset.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except when the deferred tax liability arises 
from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at 
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and 
unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 
temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized except where the 
deferred tax assets relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability 
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit 
nor taxable profit or loss.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilized. 
Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has become 
probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax assets to be recovered.

Current income tax relating to items recognized directly in equity or other comprehensive income is recognized in equity 
or other comprehensive income and not profit or loss. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax 
returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and accrues for 
additional liabilities where appropriate. It is measured using tax rates enacted or subsequently enacted at the reporting 
date.
 

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet method providing for temporary differences at the reporting date 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets 
against current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same tax authority.

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits:  Short-term employee benefit obligations include wages, salaries and other benefits 
which the Company has a present obligation to pay, as a result of employees’ services provided up to the reporting date. 
The accrual is calculated on an undiscounted basis, using current salary rates and recognised in the profit or loss.

A liability is recognized for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the 
Company has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the 
employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Post employment benefits: The Company operates various post-employment schemes, including both defined 
benefit and defined contribution pension plans. 

Defined contribution plan: The Company operates a defined contribution retirement scheme as stipulated in the 
Pension Reform Act. Under the defined contribution scheme, the Company pays fixed contributions of 10% to a separate 
entity – Pension Fund Administrators; employees also pay a minimum fixed percentage contribution of 8% to the same 
entity. Once the contributions have been paid, the Company retains no legal or constructive obligation to pay further 
contributions if the Fund does not hold enough assets to finance benefits accruing under the retirement benefit plan. The 
Company’s obligations are recognized in the profit or loss. Prepaid contributions are recognized as an asset to the extent 
that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available. Contributions to a defined contribution plan that is due 
more than 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the service are discounted to their present 
value.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is 
realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date.

Deferred tax relating to items recognized outside profit or loss is recognized outside profit or loss. Deferred tax relating to 
such items are recognized in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly in 
equity.

Defined benefits scheme:  The liability or asset recognised in the statement of financial position in respect of defined 
benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less the fair 
value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected 
unit credit method.

The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using 
interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and 
that have terms approximating to the terms of the related obligation. In countries where there is no deep market in such 
bonds, the market rates on government bonds are used.
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2.13

2.14

2.15

2.16

Earnings per share

The Company presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic earnings per share is 
calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss 
attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of 
all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

Revenue recognition

Fees earned by the Company include; annual maintenance fees and income from general registrar services. The annual 
maintenance fees are accrued and recognised over time on a straight line basis. Income from general services revenue 
stream are earned at the point in time when the service is rendered.

The net interest cost is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net balance of the defined benefit obligation and the 
fair value of plan assets. This cost is included in employee benefit expense in the statement of profit or loss. 

Remeasurement gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are 
recognised in the period in which they occur, directly in other comprehensive income. They are included in retained 
earnings in the statement of changes in equity and in the statement of financial position. 

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation resulting from plan amendments or curtailments are 
recognised immediately in profit or loss as past service costs.

Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 
and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where the Company expects some or all of a provision to 
be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. 
The expense relating to any provision is presented in profit or loss net of any reimbursement. If the effect of the time 
value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the 
risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is 
recognized as a finance cost.

Dividends on ordinary share capital

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are approved by the Company’s 
shareholders. Dividends for the year that are declared after the date of the statement of financial position are dealt with as 
an event after the reporting date. Dividends proposed by the directors’ but not yet approved by members are disclosed in 
the financial statements in accordance with the requirements of the Company and Allied Matters Act.
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The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and 
of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, 
when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When 
calculating the effective interest rate, the Company estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial 
instrument (for example, prepayment options) but does not consider future credit losses. The calculation includes all fees 
and points paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, 
transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts. Where the estimated cash flows on financial assets are 
subsequently revised, other than impairment losses, the carrying amount of the financial assets is adjusted to reflect 
actual and revised estimated cash flows.

Net interest and other Income

Interest income and expense is recognized in the income statement on an accrual basis and is calculated using the 
effective interest rate method. Interest income comprises interest income on funds invested and interest bearing financial 
assets. Gains on the disposal of financial assets, dividend income and other miscellaneous fees are recognised in profit or 
loss as Other Income. Dividend income represents income earned on the Company's equity investments. Interest income 
is recognised as it accrues in the statement of profit or loss, using the effective interest method. 
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Introduction and overview

-
-

-

-
-

-

-
-

-

-

3.1 Credit risk

Note 31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17
N'000 N'000

Cash and bank balances (excluding cash in hand) 11 809,965          2,298,629 
Placements with financial institutions 12 750,790          9,829,384 
Investment securities

Treasury bills 13 4,916,590 1,870,849
State government bonds 13 1,475,020           1,892,026 

Loans and other accounts receivable 14 609,739              612,330 
Other assets 15 16,340                 19,377 
Total            8,578,444         16,522,595 

Risks are reported openly and fully to the appropriate levels once they are identified.

Risk management is carried out jointly by the Finance and Treasury unit under policies approved by the Board of Directors. The finance 
department identifies, evaluates, measures and hedges financial risks in close co-operation with the Company’s Investment and treasury 
unit. The Board through the Head of Finance provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering 
specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and investment risk. In addition, internal audit is responsible for the 
independent review of the effectiveness of the Company's risk management process and procedures and the control environment. The risks 
arising from financial instruments to which the Company is exposed are credit risks, liquidity risk and market risk.

Outlined below is a summary of the carrying amount of the Company's financial assets which represents the maximum exposure to credit 
risk at the reporting date:

There is a clear segregation of duties between market-facing business units and risk management functions.

Risk-related issues are taken into consideration in all business decisions. The Company continues to strive to maintain a conservative 
balance between risk and revenue considerations.

Risk officers work as allies to other stakeholders within and outside the Company, and are guided in the exercise of their powers by a 
deep sense of responsibility, professionalism and respect for other parties.

Credit risk is the single largest risk for the Company’s business; management therefore carefully manages its exposure to credit risk. The 
credit risk management and control function is centralised in a financial management team, which reports to the Executive Management 
and Board.

Credit risk is the probability of suffering financial loss, should any of the Company’s customers, clients or market counterparties fail to 
fulfill their contractual obligations to the Company. Credit risk arises mainly from placements or deposits with banks and discount houses, 
bonds, treasury bills and receivables from customers. Loans and advances to staff who fail to honour their obligation at the point of exit can 
also result into a huge loss if not properly managed.

Financial risk management

The key elements of the Company’s risk management philosophy are as follows:

The Company considers sound risk management to be the foundation of a long-lasting financial institution.

The Company continues to adopt a holistic and integrated approach to risk management and, therefore, brings all risks together under 
one function while making various branch leaders, managers of the risk in their territory.

Risk officers are empowered to perform their duties professionally and independently without undue interference.

Risk management is governed by well-defined policies that are clearly communicated across the Company.

Risk management is a shared responsibility. Therefore, the Company aims to build a shared perspective on risks that is grounded in 
consensus.

The Company’s risk management governance structure is clearly defined.

The company's financial assets which have credit risk exposure are all subject to impairment.
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3.1.1 Measurement basis of financial assets and liabilities.

31 December 2018
Fair Value 

through P/L
Fair Value 

through OCI
Amortised 

Cost
Total

N'000 N'000 N'000 N'000
Financial assets
Cash and bank balances (excluding cash in hand) -                       -                    809,965 809,965            
Placements with financial institutions -                       -                    750,790 750,790            
Investment securities -                       -                    
Treasury bills -                       -                    4,916,590 4,916,590         
State government bonds -                       -                    1,475,020 1,475,020         
Listed Equity investment -                       3,571,738         -                      3,571,738         
Loans and other accounts receivable -                       -                    609,739 609,739            
Other assets -                       -                    16,340 16,340              

                         -           3,571,738         8,578,444      12,150,182 

Financial liabilities
Funds awaiting remittance -                       -                    10,716,876 10,716,876       
Other liabilities -                       -                    1,431,303 1,431,303         

                         -                          -          12,148,179       12,148,179 

31 December 2017
Loans & 

receivables
Asset held 

for sale
Held to 

maturity
Total

N'000 N'000 N'000 N'000
Financial assets
Cash and bank balances (excluding cash in hand) 2,298,629 -                    -                      2,298,629        
Placements with financial institutions 9,829,384 -                    -                      9,829,384        
Investment securities
Treasury bills -                       -                    1,870,849 1,870,849         
State government bonds -                       -                    1,892,026 1,892,026        
Listed Equity investment -                       2,412,053         -                      2,412,053         
Loans and other accounts receivable 612,330 -                    -                      612,330            
Other assets 19,377 -                    -                      19,377               

       12,759,720        2,412,053         3,762,875     18,934,648 

Financial liabilities
Funds awaiting remittance -                       -                    16,815,270 16,815,270       
Other liabilities -                       -                    1,319,479 1,319,479          

                         -                          -         18,134,749      18,134,749 
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3.1.2 Credit quality of financial assets

(i) The table below shows the stage classification for all financial assets exposed to credit risk.

N'000 N'000 N'000 N'000
Cash and bank balances (excluding cash in hand) 809,965              -                    -                      809,965            
Placements with financial institutions 750,935 -                    -                      750,935            
Loss Allowance (145) -                    -                      (145)
Carrying amount 1,560,755        -                  -                    1,560,755      

Investment securities
Treasury bills 4,916,590           -                    -                      4,916,590         
State government bonds 1,475,020           -                    -                      1,475,020         

Loss Allowance (633) -                    -                      (633)
Carrying amount 6,390,977        -                  -                    6,390,977      

Loans and other accounts receivable: Loan & Staff Loan 554,814               -                    -                      554,814            
Loss Allowance : Loan & Staff Loan (1,788) -                    -                      (1,788)
Carrying amount 553,026           -                  -                    553,026         

N'000 N'000 N'000 N'000
Cash and bank balances (excluding cash in hand) 2,298,629          -                    -                      2,298,629        
Placements with financial institutions 9,829,384          -                    -                      9,829,384        
Investment securities

Treasury bills 1,870,849           -                    -                      1,870,849         
State government bonds 1,892,026           -                    -                      1,892,026        

Loans and other accounts receivable 420,403              231,138             475,652              1,127,193          
Other assets 1                           23,421               -                      23,422              

16,311,292          254,559            475,652              17,041,503       

Specific impairment -                       -                    475,652              475,652            
Collective impairment 3,922                   39,334              -                      43,256              
Total impairment allowances 3,922                   39,334              475,652              518,908            
Carrying amount 16,307,370         215,225             -                      16,522,595       

31-Dec-18

31-Dec-17
Neither past 

due nor 
impaired

Past due but 
not impaired

Individually 
impaired

Stage1
12-month ECL

Stage 2
Lifetime ECL

Stage 3
Lifetime ECL

Total

The Company manages the credit quality of its financial assets using external credit ratings. If there is no external credit ratings, 
management assesses the credit quality of the asset, taking into account the financial positions, past experiences and other forward looking 
factors relating to the counterparties. Individual risk limits are set based on external ratings in accordance with limits set by the board. The 
compliance with credit limits are regularly monitored by the treasury and investment unit.

Total
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(ii) Credit quality of financial assets 
Credit quality of financial assets at Stage 1 (12 month ECL)

AA- to A+ B- to BBB+ Unrated
Gross 

amount Impairment  Total 

N'000 N'000 N'000 N'000 N'000 N'000

-                    809,965                  -                       809,965            -                      809,965            
-                    750,935                  -                       750,935            145 750,790            

Investment securities:
Treasury bills 4,916,590        -                       4,916,590         3,663 4,912,927         
State government bonds 1,475,020        -                          -                       1,475,020         634 1,474,386         

-                    -                          554,814               554,814            1,788 553,026            

6,391,610         1,560,900              554,814               8,507,324        6,230 8,501,094        

Credit quality of financial assets neither past due nor impaired

AA- to A+ B- to BBB+ Unrated
Gross 

amount
Specific 

impairment
 Total 

N'000 N'000 N'000 N'000 N'000 N'000

-                    2,298,629              -                       2,298,629        -                      2,298,629        
-                    9,829,384              -                       9,829,384        -                      9,829,384        

Investment securities:
Treasury bills 1,870,849        -                          -                       1,870,849         -                      1,870,849         
State government bonds 1,892,026        -                          -                       1,892,026        -                      1,892,026        

3,762,875         12,128,013             -                       15,890,888      -                      15,890,888      

Credit quality and ageing analysis of financial asset past due but not impaired
The ageing analysis of financial assets that are past due but not specifically impaired are presented below :

Past due up 
to 30 days

Past due by 30 
to 60 days

Past due 60 to 
90 days

Gross 
amount

Specific 
impairment

 Total 

N'000 N'000 N'000 N'000 N'000 N'000
              231,138                            -                 231,138                           -                 231,138 

Other assets                   3,135                         7,985                   12,301                 23,421 -                                           23,421 
             234,273                         7,985                   12,301              254,559                           -                254,559 

Loans and other accounts 
receivable

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to external credit ratings 
(Fitch Ratings Inc.) or to historical information about counterparty default rates.

31-Dec-17

Cash and bank balances 
(excluding cash in hand)

Cash and bank balances 
(excluding cash in hand)

The credit quality of financial assets at stage 1 (12 month ECL) can be assessed by reference to external credit ratings (Fitch Ratings Inc.) or 
to forward looking information.

31-Dec-18

31-Dec-17

Placements with financial 
institutions

Loans and other accounts 
receivable : Loan & Staff Loan

Placements with financial 
institutions
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3.1.3 Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure
(i) Geographical sectors

(ii)  Sectoral concentration risk analysis 

Financial 
institutions

Government Commercial Others Total

N'000 N'000 N'000 N'000 N'000
                   809,965                            -                            -                             -                809,965 

Placements with financial institutions                    750,790                            -                            -                             -                750,790 
Investment securities:

Treasury bills                                -               4,916,590                          -                             -             4,916,590 
State government bonds                                -               1,475,020                          -                             -             1,475,020 

Loans and other accounts receivable                                -                              -                318,688                291,051              609,739 
Other assets                       16,340                            -                            -                             -                   16,340 

                1,577,095              6,391,610              318,688                291,051           8,578,444 

Financial 
institutions

Government Commercial Others Total

N'000 N'000 N'000 N'000 N'000
               2,298,629                            -                            -                             -            2,298,629 

Placements with financial institutions                9,829,384                            -                            -                             -            9,829,384 
Investment securities:

Treasury bills                                -               1,870,849                          -                             -             1,870,849 
State government bonds                                -               1,892,026                          -                             -             1,892,026 

Loans and other accounts receivable                                -                              -               260,300               352,030              612,330 
Other assets                       19,377                            -                            -                             -                   19,377 

              12,147,390             3,762,875             260,300               352,030         16,522,595 

3.2 Liquidity risk  

3.2.1 Management of liquidity risk

-

-

-

-

Cash and bank balances 
(excluding cash in hand)

Cash and bank balances 
(excluding cash in hand)

All credit risk exposures (without taking into account any collateral held or other credit support) are maintained within Nigeria.

31-Dec-18

31-Dec-17

Managing the concentration and profile of investment maturities.

Monitoring and reporting take the form of cash flow measurements and projections for the next month respectively, as this is a key 
period for liquidity management. 

Maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable assets that can be easily liquidated as protection against any unforeseen interruption to 
cash flow;

Day-to-day funding, managed by monitoring future cash flow needs to ensure that funding requirements can be met. This includes 
replenishment of funds as they mature. 

The Company’s liquidity management process, as carried out within the Company and monitored by a separate team in risk management, 
includes:

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company is unable to meet its obligations when they fall due as a result of mismatch in maturities of 
financial assets and financial liabilities or incomes falling below expenses, inability to meet cash requirements from contractual 
commitments, or other cash outflows.

The risk that the Company will be unable to do so is inherent in all the Company's operations and can be affected by a range of institution-
specific and market-wide events including, but not limited to, investment events (including fund Investment activities), merger and 
acquisition activity (if any), systemic shocks and natural disasters.
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3.2.2 Liquidity gap analysis

Carring 
amount

Gross nominal 
inflow/outflow

 0 - 3 months  3- 6 months  6 months - 1 
year 

>1 year

Financial assets N'000 N'000 N'000 N'000 N'000 N'000

810,033 810,033                                 810,033                          -                             -                            -   

750,790 757,486                                  757,486                          -                             -                            -   

Investment securities
Treasury bills 4,912,927         5,150,000                         2,950,000          1,200,000           1,000,000                          -   

State bonds 1,474,388         2,699,862                               145,917              230,601                289,961          2,033,383 
Financial assets 7,948,138         9,417,381                4,663,436           1,430,601         1,289,961           2,033,383        

Financial liabilities
Funds awaiting remittance 10,716,876 10,718,195                         10,718,195                          -                             -                            -   
Other liabilities 1,431,303         1,431,303               1,431,303                                     -                             -                            -   

Financial liabilities 12,148,179       12,149,498             12,149,498         -                    -                      -                    
(Deficit)/Surplus (4,200,042)      (2,732,117)              (7,486,062)         1,430,601         1,289,961           2,033,383        

The company's finacial liabilities are majorly amounts payable to share holders of the applicable entities that First Registrars & Investors 
Services Limited act as registrars. Investments are liquidated as the need arises to meet up these payments to the share holders once 
necessary documentation are in place.

The following tables show the undiscounted cashflows on the company's financial assets and liabilities and on the basis of their earliest 
possible contractual maturity. The gross nominal inflow/(outflow) disclosed in the table is the contractual, undiscounted cash flow on the 
financial assets and liabilities. The company manages its liquidity position by concentrating on the profile of financial asset maturities.

31-Dec-18

Placements with financial 
institutions

Cash and bank balances
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Carring 
amount

Gross nominal 
inflow/outflow

 0 - 3 months  3- 6 months  6 months - 1 
year 

>1 year

Financial assets N'000 N'000 N'000 N'000 N'000 N'000
Cash and bank balances 2,298,809 2,298,809              2,298,809                                 -                           -                          -   
Placements with financial institutions9,829,384 9,853,748              9,853,748                                  -                          -   
Investment securities

Treasury bills 1,870,849 1,900,000              -                       1,900,000        -                    
State government bonds 1,892,026 2,699,862              145,917               230,601            289,961              2,033,383        

Financial assets 15,891,068      16,752,419             12,298,474         2,130,601         289,961              2,033,383        

Financial liabilities
Funds awaiting remittance 16,815,270       16,816,589             16,816,589         -                    -                      -                    
Other liabilities 1,319,479         1,319,479                1,319,479            -                    -                      -                    
Financial liabilities 18,134,749       18,136,068             18,136,068         -                    -                      -                    
Surplus (2,243,681)       (1,383,649)             (5,837,594)         2,130,601         289,961              2,033,383        

3.3 Market risk

3.3.1 Management of market risk

3.3.2 Foreign exchange risks 

The company's finacial liabilities are majorly amounts payable to share holders of the applicable entities that First Registrars & Investors 
Services Limited act as registrars. Investments are liquidated as the need arises to meet up these payments to the share holders once 
necessary documentation are in place.

31-Dec-17

The Company has put in place a clearly defined market risk management framework that provides the Board of Directors and management 
with guidance on market risk management processes. The Company has also prescribed tolerable market related losses, vis-a-vis the 
quantum of available capital and level of other risk exposures. 

Market risk is the exposure to an adverse change in the market value of trading and investment positions caused by a change in prices and 
rates. The market risks to which the Company is exposed consist of foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices.

Foreign exchange risks are risks from exposures to changes in spot and forward rates and volatilities of the exchange rates. The exchange 
rate ruling at the date of preparation of the financial statements is used to ascertain the net position of the foreign currency balances. The 
finance unit monitors the Company's foreign currency position  on a monthly basis.

The Company holds very minimal assets denominated in currencies other than the functional currency. As at 31 December 2018, the 
Company had $1,061 (equivalent to N325,681) in its domiciliary account (2017: $1,111) reported with cash and bank balances. Change in 
exchange rates relative to this foreign currency balance will not have a material impact in the financial statements.
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3.3.3 Interest rate risks 

Carrying Fixed Non interest
amount interest bearing

Financial assets N'000 N'000 N'000
Cash and bank balances 810,033                        - 810,033            
Placements with financial institutions 750,790            750,790             -                    
Investment securities

Listed equity securities 3,571,738         -                      3,571,738
Treasury bills 4,916,590         4,916,590          -                    
State government bonds 1,475,020         1,475,020          -                    

Loans and other accounts receivable 609,739            408,596             201,143             
Other assets 16,340              -                      16,340              

Total financial assets 12,150,250       7,550,996          4,599,254         

Financial liabilities
Funds awaiting remittance 10,716,876       802,399             9,914,477         
Other liabilities 1,431,303         -                      1,431,303         

Total financial liabilities 12,148,179        802,399             11,345,780       

Net exposures 2,071 6,748,597          (6,746,526)       

Carrying Fixed Non interest

amount interest bearing

Financial assets N'000 N'000 N'000

Cash and bank balances 2,298,809        -                      2,298,809        

Placements with financial institutions 9,829,384        9,829,384          -                    

Investment securities

Listed equity securities -                    -                      0

Treasury bills 1,870,849         1,870,849                     -

State government bonds 1,892,026        1,892,026          

Loans and other accounts receivable 612,330            416,480             195,850            

Other assets 19,377               -                      19,377               

Total financial assets 16,522,775       14,008,739        2,514,036         

Financial liabilities

Funds awaiting remittance 16,815,270       802,399             16,012,871       

Other liabilities 1,319,479          -                      1,319,479          

Total financial liabilities 18,134,749       802,399             17,332,350       

Net exposures (1,611,974)         13,206,340        (14,818,314)      

31-Dec-17

A reasonably possible change of 100 basis points in interest rates of the Company's financial assets  at the reporting date would 
increase/(decrease) profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.

The Company is subject to fair value interest rate risk due to fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates. All the Company's 
financial assets (except equity investments classified as available for sale) are measured at amortised cost. Such financial assets include 
short term placements with banks and treasury bills.

31-Dec-18

43



First Registrars  & Investor Services Limited
Financial statements  

31 December 2018

100bps 
Increase

100bps 
decrease

100bps 
Increase

100bps 
decrease

N'000 N'000 N'000 N'000

Placements with financial institutions 75,079                 (75,079)             2,282                  (2,282)               

Investment securities

Treasury bills 491,659               (491,659)           7,155                   (7,155)                

State government bonds 147,502               (147,502)           15,138                 (15,138)              

Loans and other accounts receivable 60,974                (60,974)             2,059                  (2,059)               
775,214               (775,214)           26,634                (26,634)             

3.3.4 Equity price risks 

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

N'000 N'000
            3,571,738           2,412,053 

            3,571,738           2,412,053 

Sensitivity analysis

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17
Equity price shock N'000 N'000
+20% 714,348 482,411
+10% 357,174 241,205
-10% (357,174) (241,205)
-20% (714,348) (482,411)

3.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 3: Inputs, for the asset or liability, that are not based on observable market data.

The classification of financial instruments into various fair value hierarchies is based on whether the inputs into determining the fair values 
of the instruments are observable or unobservable. Observable input reflects market data obtained from independent sources; unobservable 
inputs reflect the Company's market assumptions. These two types of inputs have created the following fair value hierarchy:

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e as prices) or 
indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). This hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available. The Company considers 
relevant and observable market prices in its valuations where possible.

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Profit or loss Profit or loss

Other comprehensive 
income

The sensitivity analysis for equity price risk shows how the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in the market price. The sensitivity of the Company's earnings to fluctuations in equity price rates is reflected by varying the market 
prices as  shown below:

Listed equity investment

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk). The investments of the company are subject to normal market fluctuations and the 
risks inherent in investment in financial markets. The maximum risk resulting from financial instruments held by the company is 
determined by the fair value of the financial instruments. The company is exposed to market risk on its equity investments.
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3.4.1 Financial instruments not measured at fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair value
Carrying 

amount

Financial assets N'000 N'000 N'000 N'000 N'000

Cash and bank balances -                          810,033              -                    810,033             810,033            
Placements with financial institutions -                          750,790              -                    750,790             750,790            
Investment securities

Treasury bills 4,851,493               -                       -                    4,851,493          4,916,590         
State government bonds -                          1,861,520           -                    1,861,520           1,475,020         

Loans and other accounts receivable -                          -                       609,739            609,739             609,739            
Other assets -                          -                       16,340              16,340                16,340              

4,851,493               3,422,343           626,079            8,899,915          8,578,512         

Financial liabilities
Funds awaiting remittance -                          -                       10,716,876       10,716,876         10,716,876       
Other liabilities -                        -                       1,389,721          1,389,721           1,389,721          

-                        -                       12,106,597       12,106,597         12,106,597       

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair value
Carrying 

amount

Financial assets N'000 N'000 N'000 N'000 N'000

Cash and bank balances -                          2,298,809          -                    2,298,809         2,298,809        
Placements with financial institutions -                          9,829,384          -                    9,829,384          9,829,384        
Investment securities

Treasury bills 1,752,797                -                       -                    1,752,797           1,870,849         
State government bonds -                          1,861,520           -                    1,861,520           1,892,026        

Loans and other accounts receivable -                          -                       612,330            612,330              612,330            
Other assets -                          -                       19,377               19,377                 19,377               

1,752,797                13,989,713          631,707             16,374,217         16,522,775       

Financial liabilities
Funds awaiting remittance -                          -                       16,815,270       16,815,270        16,815,270       
Other liabilities -                        -                       1,319,479          1,319,479           1,319,479          

-                          -                       18,134,749       18,134,749         18,134,749       

i) Cash and bank balances
The carrying amount of cash and bank balances is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

ii) Placements with financial institutions

iii) Investment securities

Below are the methodologies and assumptions used to determine fair values for the above financial instruments which are not recorded and 
measured at fair value in the Company’s financial statements. These fair values were calculated for disclosure purposes only.

The carrying amount of placements with financial institutions is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

The fair value for investment securities is based on market prices from financial market dealer price quotations. Where this 
information is not available, fair value is estimated using quoted market prices for securities with similar credit, maturity and yield 
characteristics.

The table below sets out the fair values of financial instruments not measured at fair value and analyses them by the level in the fair value 
hierarchy into which each fair value measurement is categorised:

31-Dec-18

31-Dec-17
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iv) Loans and other accounts receivable

v) Other assets

vi) Funds awaiting remittance

vii) Other liabilities

3.4.2 Financial instruments measured at fair value 

Level 1 Level 2 Fair value Carrying 
amount

N'000 N'000 N'000 N'000
Listed equity investments 3,520,216 51,522 3,571,738 3,571,738         

Level 1 Level 2 Fair value Carrying 
amount

N'000 N'000 N'000 N'000
Listed equity investments 2,014,436 397,617 2,412,053 2,412,053         

There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 for recurring fair value measurements during the year.

Valuation techniques used to determine level 2 fair values

3.5 Capital Management

i)

ii)

iii)

The bulk of these financial assets are expected to be settled within 12 months after the date of the statement of financial position. 
Hence, their carrying amount are a reasonable approximation of fair value.

31-Dec-18

31-Dec-17

The carrying amount of loans and receivables is a reasonable approximation of fair value.  

The bulk of these financial assets have short (less than 3months) maturities and their amounts are a reasonable approximation of fair 
value.

The bulk of these financial laibilities have short (less than 3months) maturities and their amounts are a reasonable approximation of 
fair value.

The table below sets out the fair values of financial instruments measured at fair value and analyses them by the level in the fair value 
hierarchy into which each fair value measurement is categorised:

To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored daily by the Company’s Finance team based on appropriate regulatory 
guideline. The regulatory capital requirements are strictly observed when managing capital. The shareholders fund of the Company as at 31 
December 2018 is N3.35 billion (2017: N4.0 billion). This indicates that the Company has sufficient capital.

The Company’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the ‘equity’ on the face of the statement of financial 
position, are:

To comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators of the capital market, where the Company operates; the minimum capital 
requirement for registrars as directed by SEC is N150 million;

To safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and 
benefits for other stakeholders; and

Financial assets at fair value classified under level 2 comprise money market funds valued using prices on OTC trading platforms.
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4

4.1

4.1.1

4.1.2

4.1.3

PD LGD PD LGD
(1,562)                        720                     1,221                         432                    
1,562                         (720)                   (1,221)                        (432)                  

Defined benefit scheme - staff and directors

Deferred tax assets

Notes to the Financial statements

Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions and impact of adoption of IFRS 9

The preparation of the Company’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amount of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the accompanying disclosures, as well as the disclosure of contingent 
liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying 
amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods. In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, management has made 
the following judgements and assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities. Existing circumstances and 
assumptions about future developments may change due to circumstances beyond the Company’s control and are reflected in the 
assumptions if and when they occur. Items with the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements with 
substantial management judgement and/or estimates are collated below.

Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations and the amount and timing of future taxable income.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which 
the losses can be utilized. Significant management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be 
recognized, based on the likely timing and the level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. Refer to details of 
deferred tax asset recognised and the amount unrecognised in note 19.

Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

Impact on profit or loss
31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

The Company operates a defined benefit scheme for its staff and directors. The defined benefit scheme for staff is computed as 75% of annual 
basic salary plus the monthly housing and transport allowance multiplied by the number of years served with the Company. Qualifying 
employees must have served the Company for a minimum of 5 years.

The defined benefit scheme for directors is computed as N5 million per annum for the chairman and managing director and N3 million per 
annum for other board members. All directors that are in the service of the Company after the inception of the Scheme are qualified to benefit 
from this scheme.

The estimation of the Company's obligation in respect of the defined benefit schemes involves significant judgements on key inputs such as 
the discount rates, estimated increases in salaries and mortality rates. Changes in these variables may have significant impact on the profit or 
loss and/or the other comprehensive income of the Company. Refer to note 25 for details of the sensitivity analysis performed on each of the 
key variables.

Estimates of impairment on loans and receivables and other financial assets
The measurement of the expected credit loss(ECL) allowance for financial assets measured at amortised cost and FVOCI is an area that 
requires the use of complex models and significant assumptions about future economic conditions and credit behaviour (e.g. the likelihood of 
customers defaulting and the resulting losses). Details of the inputs, assumptions and estimation methodologies used in measuring ECL are 
described in note 2.5.2. A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the accounting requirements for measuring ECL, 
such as: - Determining criteria for significant increase in credit risk; - Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of 
ECL; - Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios for each type of product/market and associated ECL; 
and - Establishing groups of financial assets for the purposes of measuring ECL. Detailed information about the judgements and estimates 
made by the company in the above areas is set out in note 2.5.2.
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4.2 Impact of adoption of IFRS 9 on financial statements

a

Measurement 
Category

Carrying 
Amount

Measurement 
Category

Carrying 
Amount

N'000 N'000
Financial assets
Placements with financial institutions Loans & Receivables 9,829,384         Amortised Cost 9,829,384        
Investment securities
Treasury bills Held to maturity 1,870,849          Amortised Cost 1,870,849         
State government bonds Held to maturity 1,892,026          Amortised Cost 1,892,026         
Loans and other accounts receivable Loans & Receivables 1,127,193           Amortised Cost 1,127,193           
Other assets Loans & Receivables 19,376                Amortised Cost 19,376               
Financial liabilities
Funds awaiting remittance Amortised cost 16,815,270        Amortised Cost 16,815,270        
Other liabilities Amortised cost 1,319,479           Amortised Cost 1,319,479          

b

IAS 39 
carrying 
amount at 31 
December 
2017

Remeasurements IFRS 9 
carrying 
amount at 1 
January 2018

N'000 N'000 N'000

Financial assets
Placements with financial institutions 9,829,384         (2,151) 9,827,233         
Investment securities
Treasury bills 1,870,849          (430) 1,870,419          
State government bonds 1,892,026          (793) 1,891,233          
Loans and other accounts receivable 1,127,193           (119,362) 1,007,831          
Other assets 19,376                (3,550) 15,826               

14,738,828     (126,286) 14,612,542    

c Financial liabilities

d

 Loss 
allowance 

under IAS 39 

Remeasurements  Loss 
allowance 

under IFRS 9 
N'000 N'000 N'000

Financial assets
Placements with financial institutions -                     (2,151) (2,151)
Investment securities
Treasury bills -                     (430) (430)
State government bonds -                     (793) (793)
Loans and other accounts receivable (514,863) (119,362) (634,225)
Other assets (4,045) (3,550) (7,595)
Total impairment allowance (518,908) (126,286) (645,194)

Reconciliation of impairment allowance balance from IAS 39 to IFRS 9
The following tables reconciles the prior period's closing impairment allowance measured in accordance with the IAS 39 incurred loss model 
to the new impairment allowance measured in accordance  with IFRS 9 expected loss model at 1 January 2018.

IAS 39 IFRS 9

Reconciliation of statement of financial position balances from IAS 39 to IFRS 9
The following table reconciles the carrying amount of financial assets, from their previous measurement category in accordance with IAS 39 
to their new measurement categories upon transition to IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018.

On 1 January 2018 (the date of initial application of IFRS 9), there was no impact on the company's financial liabilities

The Company has adopted IFRS 9 with a date of transition of 1 January 2018, which resulted in changes in accounting policies and 
adjustment to the amounts previously recognised in the financial statements. The Company did not early adopt any of IFRS 9 in previous 
period.
IFRS 9 has been adopted using the modified approach and thus comparative information has not been restated. The adjustments arising 
from the new impairment rules are therefore not reflected in the statement of net assets as at 31 December 2017, but are recognised in the 
movement in net assets on 1 January 2018. The Company has not elected to adopt practical expedients on adoption of IFRS 9.

The following tables summarise the impact of transition to IFRS 9 for each individual line item. Line items that were not affected by the 
changes have not been included. As a result, the sub-totals and totals disclosed cannot be recalculated from the numbers provided. There was 
no impact on the statement of cash flows as a result of adopting the new standard.

Classification and measurement of financial instruments
The measurement category and the carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities in accordance with IAS 39 and IFRS 9 as 1 January 
2018 are compared as follows:
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e Analysis of financial asset and impairment per stage 1 January 2018
 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Total 

 12-month ECL  Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL 
N'000 N'000 N'000 N'000

Placements with financial institutions
Gross amount 9,829,384                 -                     -                            9,829,384        
Loss Allowance (2,151) -                     -                            (2,151)
Carrying amount 9,827,233              -                     -                            9,827,233      

Investment securities - Treasury bills
Gross amount 1,870,849                 -                     -                            1,870,849         
Loss Allowance (430) -                     -                            (430)
Carrying amount 1,870,419               -                    -                           1,870,419       

Investment securities - State Government bond
Gross amount 1,892,026                 -                     -                            1,892,026         
Loss Allowance (793) -                     -                            (793)
Carrying amount 1,891,233               -                    -                           1,891,233       

Loans and other accounts receivable: Loan & Staff Loan
Gross amount 420,403                    -                     -                            420,403            
Loss Allowance : Loan & Staff Loan (1,533) -                     -                            (1,533)
Carrying amount 418,870                  -                     -                            418,870          
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31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17
N'000 N'000

5 Fee income 
Fees 554,734 522,048

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17
N'000 N'000

6
                      2,006 -                       

(26,856) (59,149)
(3,074) -                       

Impairment of KYC receivables (see note 15.1) (246) (4,045)
(28,170) (63,194)

b) Recoveries on non-financial assets
WHT recovered previously written off 58,598                            -   

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17
N'000 N'000

7 Other income
Dividend income 149,164 71,748
KYC verification fees 18,703 34,462
Online access fees 1,041 1,774
Income from general services (See note (i)) 85,604 77,940
Profit on disposal of property and equipment -                         200                      

254,512 186,124

(i)

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17
N'000 N'000

8 Operating expenses
Staff cost (see note 8.1) 879,069 791,224

Directors Fees (See note 28) 130,288 133,780

Depreciation - property and equipment (see note 18)                    123,121 90,221

Amortisation - intangible assets (see note 17) 28,727 14,492

Audit fees 8,500 8,500

Repairs and maintenance 89,195 79,267

Training 25,776 18,578

Rents and rates 70,834 58,528

Bank charges and other charges 8,999 4,618

Travelling and entertainment 98,649 85,756

Electricity 18,468 35,856

Printing, postage and stationaries 43,267 40,019

Advertisement and publicity 47,338 53,774

Donations                              -   650

Subscriptions 7,455 8,767

Legal and professional charges 79,224 118,793

Insurance 47,734 41,229

Professional and advisory services 249,916 240,560

Fines and penalties (see note 8.2) 56,698 65,405
Foreign exchange losses 13 594

Administrative expenses 97,128 73,436

Loss on asset disposal 204                            -   
2,110,603 1,964,047

a) Impairment charge on financial assets 

Impairment of loans and other receivables (see note 14.1)

Fees represent annual maintenance fees that are accrued monthly and earned by virtue of providing general registrar services to 
clients. The fees are paid quarterly, based on specific contract terms with clients. 

Impairment charge on investment securities (See note 13.1)

Income from general services comprises income earned by the Company from services rendered to its customers in relation to 
change of name, printing of account statements, photocopies made for shareholders, power of attorney services etc.

Reversal of impairment on placements (see note 12)
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31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

N'000 N'000
8.1 Staff cost

Salaries, wages and allowances 674,239 626,494
Productivity bonus 10,235 -                       
Other staff cost (i) 15,603                   41,576                 
Expenses relating to defined benefit schemes (see note 25 (a)) 154,999 101,407
Contributions to defined contribution plan 23,993 21,747

879,069 791,224

(i)
8.2

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17
N'000 N'000

9 Interest income
Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost
Interest income on placements 239,913 598,766
Interest income on treasury bills 690,950 1,013,433
Interest income on bonds 271,955 328,905
Interest income on loans 24,250 28,593

1,227,068             1,969,697           

        
10 Interest expense

Interest expense on funds awaiting remittance 17,647                    35,358                

11 Cash and bank balances
Cash in hand 68 180
Cash at bank 809,965 2,298,629

Total 810,033 2,298,809

Current 810,033 2,298,809

11.1 Cash and cash equivalents (included in statement of cashflows)
Cash and bank balances (see note 11) 810,033 2,298,809

750,790 9,829,384
Treasury Bills and Bonds (Below 90days) 2,959,328                            -   
Total 4,520,151 12,128,193

12 Placements with financial institutions

Balances held with banks 444,176 9,522,770

306,759 306,614
Impairment of financial asset (145)                            -   
Total 750,790 9,829,384

Impairment loss on placement
At 1 January 2018 (2,151) -                       
Impairment write-back 2,006 -                       
At year end (145)                            -   

Current 750,790                9,829,384          

Balances held with other financial institutions

Placements within 90 days (see note 12)

Other staff cost represents benefits accruing to employees with respect to loans granted at below market interest rate.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than three months' maturity from the date of acquisition, including cash
in hand, deposits held at call with other banks and other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities less than
three months and held for the purpose of fulfilling short term commitments.

Fines and penalties includes additional interest of N56million payable on the judgement sum of N339.8million awarded to a 
customer based on the ruling of the Investments and Securities Tribunal in 2017 (2017: N52million). 
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31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17
N'000 N'000

13 Investment securities
Investment securities at amortised cost (Treasury Bills) - 13.3 4,916,590             -                       
Investment securities at amortised cost (State Government Bond) - 13.2 1,475,020             -                       
Investment securities at Held to maturity (Treasury Bills) - 13.3 -                         1,870,849           
Investment securities at Held to maturity (State Government Bond) - 13.2 -                         1,892,026          
Investment securities at FVOCI (Listed Equity) - 13.1 (a) 3,571,738              -                       
Investment securities at Available for sale (Listed Equity) - 13.1 (b) -                         2,412,053           
Impairment of financial asset (Treasury Bills) - 13.3 (3,663) -                       
Impairment of financial asset (State Government Bond) 13.2 (633)                            -   

9,959,052            6,174,928           

Current               8,684,676             1,870,849 
Non-current                1,274,376            4,304,079 

9,959,052 6,174,928

13.1 Listed equity investments 
Investment securities at FVOCI 3,571,738              -                       
Investment securities at Available for sale -                         2,412,053           -                         -                       

3,571,738              2,412,053           

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17
13.1 (a) Equity investments at FVOCI comprise the following individual investments: N'000 N'000*

African Prudentials Plc 3,701                      -                       
Afriland Properties Plc 2,391                      -                       
Arm Money Market Fund 50,362                   -                       
Cordros Money Market Fund 51,522                   -                       
CSCS Plc 1,380,600            -                       
FBN Holdings Plc 418,257                 -                       
Friesland Campina Wamco Nig Plc 327,520                -                       
Honeywell Flour Mills Plc 32,064                  -                       
Nigerian Breweries Plc 4,275                     -                       
Oando Plc 1,250                     -                       
Presco Plc 3,200                     -                       
Prestige Assurance Plc 25                           -                       
PZ Cussons Nigeria Plc 904                        -                       
Stanbic Ibtc Holdings Plc 2,398                     -                       
Transnational Corporation Plc 1,039,500             -                       
United Bank for Africa Plc 242,983                -                       
United Capital Plc 10,786                   -                       
Total 3,571,738              -                       

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17
13.1 (b) N'000 N'000

African Prudentials Plc -                         4,035
Afriland Properties Plc -                         2,343
Arm Money Market Fund -                         50,363
Cordros Money Market Fund -                         52,323
FBN Holdings Plc -                         454,176
Friesland Campina Wamco Nig Plc -                         292,589
Honeywell Flour Mills Plc -                         52,605
Nigerian Breweries Plc -                         6,745
Oando Plc -                         1,529
Presco Plc -                         3,425
Prestige Assurance Plc -                         25
PZ Cussons Nigeria Plc -                         1,539
Stanbic Ibtc Holdings Plc -                         2,075
Transnational Corporation Plc -                         1,149,750
United Bank for Africa Plc -                         325,029
United Capital Plc -                         13,502
Total -                      2,412,053

Financial assets previously classified as available-for-sale comprise the 
following individual investments:

These investments were classified as available-for-sale in 2017, see 13.1 (b) below. All of these investments were also held in the 
previous period, but the company increased its investment in CSCS Plc during the current year at a cost of N476.26 million.
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13.2 State government bonds (held to maturity) 31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17
Investment securities at amortised cost (State Government Bond) N'000 N'000

Lagos State bondLagos State bond 932,941 -                       

Ondo State bond 49,176 -                       
Cross River State bond 324,383 -                       
Oyo State bond 168,520 -                       

Investment securities at Held to maturity (State Government Bond)
Lagos State bond                              -   1,168,304

Ondo State bond                              -   134,074

Cross River State bond                              -   387,821

Oyo State bond                              -   201,827

Total 1,475,020 1,892,026

Impairment Loss on State Government Bond (Amortized Cost)
IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018 (792) -                       
Reversal of impairment 159 -                       
At year end (633)                            -   

13.3 Treasury bills (held to maturity) 31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17
Investment securities at amortised cost (Treasury bills) N'000 N'000
FGN Treasury bills (24 Jan 19) 1,585,270                            -   
FGN Treasury bills (21 Feb 19) 983,332                            -   
FGN Treasury bills (7 Mar 19) 341,330                            -   
FGN Treasury bills (18 Apr 19) 192,899                            -   
FGN Treasury bills (9 May 19) 954,055                            -   
FGN Treasury bills (12 Dec 19) 859,704                            -   

Investment securities at Held to maturity (Treasury bills)
FGN Treasury Bills (1 Feb 2018)                              -               1,870,849 

          4,916,590         1,870,849 

Impairment Loss on Treasury Bills (Amortized Cost)
IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018 (430) -                       
Impairment charge (3,233) -                       
At year end (3,663)                            -   

14

Loans (See note 14 (a)) 318,688 260,300

Staff loans 236,126 160,103
Client fees and reimbursables 716,006 706,790

1,270,820 1,127,193

Impairment (see note 14.1)                 (661,081)              (514,863)

609,739 612,330

Current 379,651                 458,265              
Non-current 230,088               154,065              

609,739                612,330              

(a)

14.1 Impairments on loans and other receivables
Opening 31 December 2017 (514,863) (455,714)
Impairment on transition to IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018 (119,362) 0
Impairment charge (26,856) (59,149)
At 31 December (661,081) (514,863)

Loans and other receivable

Loan represents an unsecured bridge finance facility of N315million granted to Honeywell Oil and Gas Limited in December 
2018. The facility was granted at an interest rate of 15%. The current loan balance matures in February 2019.  
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31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

15 Other assets N'000 N'000
Financial assets
Dividend receivable 1                              1 
KYC receivables (see note 15.1) 16,339                   19,376 

16,340                    19,377 
Non-financial assets
Prepayment 98,319                   57,754 
Staff upfront allowances 59,423                109,483 
Deposit for shares (see note 15.2)                              -                 550,000 
Inventory & consumables 29,048                  20,694 
Deposit for assets                                3                   74,727 
WHT Receivables                     58,598                            -   
Others                       6,258                            -   
Total 267,989 832,035              

Current 157,742 717,430
Non-current 110,247 114,605
Total 267,989 832,035

15.1 KYC receivables
KYC receivables                     24,180                   23,421 
Less Impairment as at 31 December 2018 (7,841)                  (4,045)

                    16,339                   19,376 

Impairment loss on KYC Receivable
Opening 31 December 2017 (4,045)                            -   
Impairment on transition to IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018 (3,550)                            -   
Movement in impairment                        (246) (4,045)

(7,841) (4,045)

15.2 Deposit for shares as at 31 December 2017, represents advance payment made for the acquisition of 80.05 million units of 
shares in CSCS Plc at the unit price of N7/share. The shares were allocated to the company during the current year, hence 
reclassified to investment securities at FVOCI.
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16 Investment in associate (equity method)

16.1 Nature of investment in associate

 Place of 
business/ 
country of 

incorporation 

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17 31-Dec-17

30-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

N'000 N'000

16.2 Movement in investment in associate
Investment in APT Pension Fund Managers:

1 January 2018          1,842,982                       -   
- Transfer from deposit for shares                         -              532,446 

- Additional investment during the year                         -           1,242,373 

- Share of profit in associate 92,757              68,163 

Dividend received from associate (35,497)                       -   

- Closing balance          1,900,242         1,842,982 

16.3 Summarised financial information of associate

16.3.1 Summarised statement of financial position

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1,687,483         1,524,461       

Other current assets (excluding cash) 279,545            224,345          

Non-current assets 192,602            247,770          
Total assets 2,159,630         1,996,576       

Liabilities

Other liabiliites 71,130               69,468            
Total liabilities 71,130               69,468            

Net assets 2,088,500       1,927,108       

The tables below provide summarised financial information of the investment in associate. The information disclosed reflects the amounts 
presented in the financial statements of the associate and not First Registrars & Investors Services Limited’s share of those amounts.

The Company acquired 40% stake in APT Pension Fund Managers Limited effective 1 July 2017. Set out below are the details of the 
Company's investment in associate - Investment in APT Pension Fund Managers Limited. The investee's share capital consists solely of 
ordinary shares, which are held directly by the Company; the country of incorporation or registration is also its principal place of business, 
and the proportion of ownership interest is the same as the proportion of voting rights held. APT Pension Fund Managers Limited is not 
publicly traded and there is no published price information. 

 % of ownership 
interest 

Carrying amount (N'000)

Investment in APT 
Pension Fund 
Managers Limited

Name of entity
Nature of 

relationship

1,842,982       

31-Dec-18

1,900,242         

APT was incorporated on 13 December 2004 under the Companies and Allied Matters Act 1990 with an Authorised share capital of Five 
Hundred Million Naira to carry out the sole business of Pension Fund Administration in Nigeria. APT Pension Funds Managers Limited was 
granted a full license to operate as a Pension Fund Administrator (PFA) on 15 June 2007. 

Measurement 
method

40%40% Nigeria  Associate  Equity method 
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31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17
N'000 N'000

16.3.2 Summarised statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

Fund management and administrative fees 793,832            688,827         
Finance income 235,464            276,979          
Other income 435                    1,280              
Operating expenses (780,385)          (605,093)        
Profit before tax 249,346            361,993          
Income tax (17,454) (21,178)            
Profit for the year 231,892            340,815          
Total comprehensive income 231,892            340,815          

16.3.3 Reconciliation of investment in associate to carrying amount

Opening net assets 1,927,108         1,756,701        

Profit 231,892            170,407          

Dividend paid (70,500)            -                  
Closing net assets - 31 December 2018 2,088,500       1,927,108       

Company's share in % 40% 40%

Company's share 835,400           770,843          

Notional goodwill 1,064,843        1,072,139       
Carrying amount 1,900,242        1,842,982       

17 Intangible assets

Acquired computer software

Cost

Balance at 1 January 2018 144,993 99,850
Additions                50,837               45,143 
Write off (7,498)                       -   
Balance at 31 December 2018 188,332 144,993

Accumulated amortization

Balance at 1 January 2018 101,346 86,854
Amortization charge                28,727 14,492
Write off                (7,498)                       -   
Balance at 31 December 2018 122,575 101,346

Net Book Value
At 31 December 65,757 43,647
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18 Property and equipment Leasehold 
Land

Building Motor Vehicles Furniture and 
Fittings

Office 
Equipment

Computer 
Equipment

Work in 
progress

Total

Cost N'000 N'000 N'000 N'000 N'000 N'000 N'000 N'000
Balance at 1 January 2018           441,855           240,000                     219,649                 64,678             186,567             226,467         1,459,517         2,838,733 
Reclassification to asset held for sale         (441,855)         (240,000)                                -                            -                          -                          -             (681,855)
Reclassification      1,083,000             376,517                                -                            -                          -                          -   (1,459,517)                        -   
Additions in the year                     -               254,561 247,746                   32,910                79,117              4,587                                    -                618,921 
Disposal in the year                     -                         -   (1,672)                                                -                          -                          -                        -                  (1,672)
Balance at 31 December 2018   1,083,000          631,078                  465,723               97,588         265,684          231,054                     -          2,774,127 

Depreciation  ` 
Balance at 1 January 2018                     -               133,091                     168,332                  57,334              161,914            198,688                      -                719,359 
Reclassification to asset held for sale                     -   (133,091)                                -                            -                          -                          -                        -              (133,091)
Charge for the year                    -                   6,261 79,967                      5,158                  18,337             13,398                                  -                123,121 
Disposal in the year                      -                         - (1,428)                                             -                        -                (1,428)
Balance at 31 December 2018                    -                6,261                  246,871              62,492          180,251          212,086                     -             707,961 

Cost  ` 
Balance at 1 January 2017           441,855           240,000                     223,099                 63,336              181,371            208,381                      -            1,358,042 
Reclassification                     -                         -                                  -                            -                          -                          -         1,078,000         1,078,000 
Additions in the year                     -                         -                                  -   1,342 5,196 18,086 381,517              406,141 
Disposal in the year                     -                         -   (3,450)                                               -                          -                          -                        -                 (3,450)
Balance at 31 December 2017        441,855        240,000                  219,649              64,678          186,567          226,467      1,459,517      2,838,733 

Depreciation
Balance at 1 January 2017                    -               109,091                      132,297                 52,608              149,315             189,277                      -               632,588 
Charge for the year                    -                24,000 39,485                     4,726                  12,599             9,411                                     -                 90,221 
Disposal in the year                    -                       -   (3,450)                                             -                        -                        -                        -                 (3,450)
Balance at 31 December 2017                    -            133,091                  168,332               57,334           161,914         198,688                     -             719,359 

Net Book Value
At 31 December 2018 1,083,000 624,818 218,852 35,096 85,433 18,968                     -   2,066,166

At 31 December 2017 441,855 106,909 51,317 7,344 24,653 27,779      1,459,517 2,119,374
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19 Deferred tax assets

2018 Net balance   
at 1 January

Recognised 
in profit or 
loss

Recognised in 
other 
comprehensive 
income

Net Balance at 
31 December 

N'000 N'000 N'000 N'000

Property and equipment                       70                          -                                     -                             70 

Defined benefit scheme                14,145                          -                                     -                      14,145 

Unrealized exchange difference                     178                          -                                     -                           178 

Total               14,393                          -                                     -                     14,393 

2017 Net balance   
at 1 January

Recognised 
in profit or 
loss

Recognised in 
other 
comprehensive 
income

Net Balance at 
31 December 

N'000 N'000 N'000 N'000

Property and equipment            (58,220)                58,290                                   -                             70 

Defined benefit scheme               73,405                          -                         (59,260)                    14,145 

Unrealized exchange difference                   (792)                       970                                   -                           178 

Total               14,393                 59,260 -                       59,260                   14,393 

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

N'000 N'000

20 Asset held for sale                       548,764                            -   

                      548,764                            -   

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

N'000 N'000

Cost - Leasehold                        441,855                            -   

Cost - Building                      240,000                            -   

Accumulated depreciation - Building (133,091)                            -   

                      548,764                            -   

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax loss and deductible temporary differences to the extent that the realisation of the 
related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. Unrecognised deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses 
and deductible temporary differences was N893.35 million (2017: N407.6 million).

This relates to the company's property (Land & Building) at Plot 56, Akanbi Onitiri Close, Off Eric Moore road, Surulere Lagos. 
The property was valued by Jide Taiwo & Co in 2018. The property was initially purchased for the company's use however, it 
was unanimously decided that the property be sold.

The Management of the Company is committed to a plan to dispose this property and have contracted Jide Taiwo & Co 
(property experts) to put up the assets for sale and are actively engaging potential buyers. Management is of the opinion that 
the property will be disposed in the next 12 months. Furthermore, the assets are actively marketed for sale at a price that is 
reasonable in relation to its current fair value. The carrying amount approximates the fair value of the asset.
No gain or loss has been recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in relation to these assets.

This balance was reclassified from Property and equipment with the breakdown below:

Deferred tax asset falling due after more than 12 months is N14.39 million (2017: N14.39 million).

Reclassification from Property and Equipment
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31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17
N'000 N'000

21 Funds awaiting remittance
Dividend and coupons awaiting remittance (see note 21.1) 10,713,409 16,812,664

Withholding tax on dividend 140,852 98,844

Deposit for offer/right issue 3,467 2,606

10,857,728 16,914,114

Funds awaiting remittance are expected to be settled within 12 months after the date of the statement of financial position.

21.1   Dividend and coupons awaiting remittance

22 Other liabilities

Financial liabilities:

Accrued medical expenses                       2,307                    1,915 

Client recoverable account                     53,075                 25,981 

Dividend payable                       4,954                   4,184 

Bills payable                     31,016                 31,740 

Accrued Expenses (see note 22.2)                    62,885                 18,554 

Deposit for shares               1,235,409           1,237,023 

Others                     41,657                         82 

Total financial liabilities                1,431,303            1,319,479 

Non-financial liabilities:

VAT payable 15,822                20,085 

PAYE and other taxes                       4,743                   2,280 

ITF accrual                        8,611                   6,966 

Deferred income                          349                      349 

Staff welfare deductions                           335                       481 

Withholding tax payable                     32,137                 55,725 

Provision for staff productivity                              -               200,000 

Dormant accounts (see note 22.1) 222,745 219,692

Total non-financial liabilities 284,742 505,578

Total 1,716,045 1,825,057

22.1 Dormant accounts

Other liabilities are expected to be settled within 12 months after the date of the statement of financial position.

22.2 Accrued Expenses

23 Provision

Provision for litigations and claims 899,790 843,592

899,790 843,592

Movement in provision for litigations and claims

At 1 January 2018 843,592 787,394

Provision made during the year 56,198 56,198

At 31 December 2018 899,790 843,592

Dividend and coupons awaiting remittance are unclaimed dividends by shareholders of companies and unclaimed coupons on state 
government bonds for which the Company provides registrar services. 

Dormant accounts are balances on cheques issued to customers during the year which had been long outstanding for more than 6 
months which may be returned to the Company for revalidation subsequently.

In 2010, a petition was instituted against the Company before the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) by a customer. The 
Company contested the case, nevertheless on 9 February, 2011, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) ordered the Company 
to pay the petitioner the principal amount in dispute plus accrued interest as follows:

These relate to expenses for Audit fees, rent & legal fees.
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31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

N'000 N'000

Principal 339,830 339,830
Interest (at an average MPR of 12%) + 2% from January 2008 to December 2018 540,025 485,652

19,935 18,110

899,790 843,592

24 Taxation

Excess dividend tax                  150,000                 74,871 

WHT on dividend income                     14,707                    7,175 

Minimum tax                     17,287                          -   

NITDA Levy                              -                      6,761 

                  181,994                88,807 

Over provision of prior years' tax                              -               (20,000)

Total current tax expenses                   181,994                68,807 

Increase in deferred tax asset                                -              (59,260)
Income tax expense/(credit) 181,994 9,547 

(i)

Reconciliation of effective tax rate
Profit/(loss) before tax 31,249 683,433            

                      9,375              205,030 

Tax exempt income                (379,027)            (823,810)

Non-deductible expenses                  369,652              618,780 

Effects of prior year over provision                              -               (20,000)

Effective of dividend tax 150,000                                74,871 

Effect of minimum tax adjustment 17,287                                            -   

Effect of WHT on dividend income 14,707                                      7,175 

Temporary difference                              -                (59,260)

NITDA Levy                              -                      6,761 
Income tax expense/(credit) 181,994 9,547 
Effective tax rate 582% 1%

24.1 Income tax liability

The movement in the current income tax liability is as follows:

At start of year                   263,341               318,761 

Tax paid                   (25,819)             (124,227)

WHT Utilized                   (53,275)                            - 

Charge for the year                   181,994                88,807 

Adjustment for prior year over provision                                -             (20,000)

At end of year                   366,241               263,341 

Tax calculated using the domestic corporation tax rate of 30%

Management is vigorously contesting this decision in the court of law. However, a provision of N899 million (December 2017: N843 
million) has been made in these financial statements as management is of the opinion that this represents the best estimate of the 
expenditure required to settle the obligation as at year end.

During the year the Company was liable to excess dividend tax on N150 million representing 30% of N500 million final dividend paid 
as the Nigerian tax laws require companies to pay tax calculated at 30% of the higher of taxable profit and dividend paid.

A penalty of N5,000 per day from 31 January, 2008 to the date of payment to the complainant.
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25 Retirement benefit assets

The Company operates a defined contribution and a defined benefit scheme for staff and directors.

Defined contribution plan

Defined benefit scheme

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

N'000 N'000

Staff gratuity scheme                  160,629                 61,798 

Directors gratuity scheme                    42,303                 39,172 

                 202,932              100,970 

(a) Defined benefit scheme - Staff 

Present 
value of the 

obligation

Fair value of 
plan assets

Net amount

N'000 N'000 N'000

1 January 2017 226,695 (335,322)               (108,627)           

Current service cost                66,364                              -   66,364

Interest expense/(income)                35,043                 (114,997)               (79,954)
Distribution to staff                         -                     114,997               114,997 
Total amount recognised in profit or loss              101,407                              -                 101,407 

Remeasurements:

    Gain from change in financial assumptions                59,039                              -                  59,039 

   Gain from changes in experience              (12,269)                              -                 (12,269)
Total amount recognised in other comprehensive income                46,770                              -                   46,770 

Contributions:
Employer                         -                   (101,348)             (101,348)

31 December 2017              374,872                (436,670)               (61,798)

The Company operates a funded defined benefit schemes for staff and directors. 

The schemes relate wholly to active employees and directors. The scheme is funded by plan assets held with trustee in Nigeria. The plan 
assets comprise cash and cash equivalents.

 The projected unit credit method was applied in determining the present value of the gratuity obligations.

The defined contribution plan is operated in accordance with the Pension Reform Act. The employer contributes 10% while the 
employee contributes 8%  of basic pay, housing and transport allowance. The employer’s obligation is limited to the amount 
contributed in accordance with statutory requirements. The employer is not responsible for any loss in the value of the assets in the 
contribution plan. The contributions are transferred to the chosen pension fund administrators of the employees.

The Company operates a defined benefit scheme for its staff. This is computed as 75% of annual basic salary plus the monthly housing
and transport allowance multiplied by the number of years served with the Company. Only employees that have served the Company
for 5 years and above are qualified to benefit from this Scheme. The Scheme began on 1 January, 2013.
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Present 
value of the 

obligation

Fair value of 
plan assets

Net amount

N'000 N'000 N'000

1 January 2018 374,872                (436,670) (61,798)             

Current service cost                 73,831                              -   73,831
Interest expense/(income)                 51,292                (188,623)             (137,331)
Distribution to staff -                 188,623                          188,623 
Curtailment (Gains)/Losses                29,876                 29,876 
Total amount recognised in profit or loss              154,999                              -                 154,999 

Remeasurements:

 Loss from change in financial assumptions             (68,800)                              -               (68,800)

Gain from changes in experience               85,030                              -                  85,030 
Total amount recognised in other comprehensive income                16,230                              -                   16,230 

Benefits paid              (76,728)                     76,728                          -   
Contributions                         -                  (270,060)           (270,060)

31 December 2018              469,373 (630,002)            (160,629)

(b) Defined benefit scheme - Directors

Present 
value of the 
obligation

Fair value of 
plan assets

Net amount

N'000 N'000 N'000

1 January 2017 37,250              (76,000)                (38,750)             

Current service cost                10,788                                - 10,788               

Interest expense/(income)                   5,654                   (31,659) (26,005)            
Distribution to director                           -                     31,659                 31,659 
Total amount recognised in profit or loss                16,442                                -                 16,442 

Remeasurements:

 Gain from change in financial assumptions                  3,453                                -                   3,453 

Gain from changes in experience                 (1,317)                                -                  (1,317)
Total amount recognised in other comprehensive income                   2,136                                -                   2,136 

Contributions:
Employer                           -                  (19,000)              (19,000)

31 December 2017                55,828                  (95,000)               (39,172)

The Company also operates a defined benefit scheme for its directors. The defined benefit scheme for directors is computed as N5 
million per annum for the chairman and managing director and N3 million per annum for other board members. All directors that are 
in the service of the Company after the inception of the Scheme are qualified to benefit from this Scheme.
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 Present 
value of the 

obligation 

 Fair value of 
plan assets 

Net amount

N'000 N'000 N'000

1 January 2018 55,828              (95,000)                (39,172)              

Current service cost                 12,729                                - 12,729               
Interest expense/(income)                   7,526                  (44,829) (37,303)             
Distribution to director                           -                    44,829                44,829 

Total amount recognised in profit or loss                20,255                                -                 20,255 

Remeasurements:

 Loss from change in financial assumptions                (3,042)                                -                (3,042)

Gain from changes in experience                 (1,344)                                -                 (1,344)
Total amount recognised in other comprehensive income                (4,386)                                -                (4,386)

Contributions:

Employer                           -                  (19,000)              (19,000)
31 December 2018                 71,697                (114,000)              (42,303)

(c) Significant assumptions

Staff Directors Staff Directors

% % % %
Rate of increase in salaries 12.00                         -   12.00                          -   
Inflation assumption 12.00                         -   12.00                          -   
Discount rate 15.50 15.50 14.00 14.00

Sample age

25 7

30 7

35 9

40 14

45 26

Number of deaths in year of age out of 10,000 lives

The assumptions on the mortality rate are considered as most suitable for the valuations and a good representation of the current 
mortality experiences in Nigeria by the actuarial valuers.

The overall rates of return are based on the expected return within each asset category and on current asset allocations. The expected
returns are developed in conjunction with external advisers and take into account current market expectations of future returns.

The discount rate is determined on the Company’s reporting date by making reference to market yields on high quality corporate bonds
(except where there is no deep market in such bonds, in which case the discount rate is based on market yields on Government bonds).
The discount rate reflects the duration of the liabilities of the benefit programme.

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

The principal actuarial assumptions used in determining the defined benefit obligation are as follows:

The rates of mortality assumed for employees are the rates published in the A67/70 Ultimate Tables, published jointly by the Institute
and Faculty of Actuaries in the UK. 
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(d) Sensitivity analysis

Staff Directors Staff Directors
Discount rate +1%          430,738                69,764                  341,069                 53,925 

-1%           513,627                73,705                   413,913                 57,822 

Salary Increase +1%           516,969                         -                      416,131                416,131 
-1%           427,357                         -                    338,698              338,698 

Mortality rate Age rated up by 1 year          469,973                 71,952                   375,156                 56,105 
Age rated down by 1 year          468,832                71,460                   374,616                 55,570 

Risk exposure

(e) Defined benefit liability and employer contributions

Between Over 
1 - 5 years 5 years Total

N'000 N'000 N'000
Defined benefit scheme 401,999        911,960             1,313,959       

Between Over 
1 - 5 years 5 years Total

N'000 N'000 N'000
Defined benefit scheme 2,004            791,730             793,734         

Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding other assumptions constant, 
would have affected the defined benefit obligation by the amounts shown below.

Through the retirement benefit obligations, the Company is exposed to a number of risks, the most significant of which 
relate to changes in discount rates, increases in salaries and mortality. The Company manages this risk through the 
constant monitoring of the changes in the variables using the annual actuarial valuations.

The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In practice, this is 
unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit 
obligation to significant actuarial assumptions the same method (present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated with the 
projected unit credit method at the end of the reporting period) has been applied as when calculating the defined benefit liability 
recognised in the statement of financial position.

31-Dec-17

31-Dec-17

31-Dec-18

Funding levels are monitored on an annual basis and the current agreed contribution rate is 75% of annual basic salary 
plus the monthly housing and transport allowance multiplied by the number of years served with the Company.

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 20 years (2017: 20 years). The expected maturity 
analysis of undiscounted pension and post-employment medical benefits is as follows:

31-Dec-18

The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis did not change compared to the prior year.
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31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17
N'000 N'000

26 Share capital

Authorized shares:

500,000,000 ordinary shares of N1 each (2017: N500 million) 500,000 500,000

Issued and fully paid share capital:
500,000,000 ordinary shares of N1 each (2017: N500 million) 500,000 500,000

Independent auditor’s report
The nature and purpose of the reserves in equity are as follows:

i

`
ii

Below is the movement in fair value reserves

At start of year                   967,972                        -   

Fair value gain on FVOCI Investments                   122,180 

Fair value gain on Available for sale investments                              -               967,972 

At end of year                1,090,152             967,972 

27 Earnings per share

(Loss)/Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company (150,745) 673,886          

Number of shares in issue (units) 500,000 500,000

(Loss)/Earnings per share - basic & diluted (N) (0.30) 1.35                  

28 Employees' and directors' information

(a) Employees' information

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Number Number

Number of persons employed during the period

Management 21 24

Senior staff                             72                       76 

Other staff                             29                       55 

122 155

Retained earnings: Retained earnings comprise the undistributed profits from previous years, which have not been reclassified to the
other reserves.

Fair value reserve:  This relates to reserve from the valuation of the Company’s equity investments.

Basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net (loss)/profit attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net (loss)/profit attributable to equity holders of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding  for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

The Company does not have dilutive potential ordinary shares as at 31 December 2018 (2017:nil)

 The number of persons employed by the Company in the financial year, including Executive directors were: 
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Employees’ emoluments 31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

N'000 N'000

Salaries, wages and allowances 674,239 626,494

Defined benefit scheme 154,999 101,407
Staff productivity bonus 10,235                   -                   

Benefit to staff 15,603                   41,576              

Contributions to defined contribution plan 23,993 21,747
879,069 900,824

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17
Number Number

N300,001 - N2,000,000 26 49
N2,000,001 - N2,800,000 7 26

N2,800,001 - N3,500,000 3 24
N3,500,001 - N4,000,000 0 12
N4,000,001 - N5,500,000 42 23

N5,500,001 - N6,500,000 11 2
N6,500,001 - N7,800,000 10 7
N7,800,001 - N9,000,000 2 2

Above N9,000,001 21 10
122 155

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

N'000 N'000
(b) Directors’ emoluments

Fees and sitting allowances 21,075                   20,355             

Defined benefit scheme 20,255                   16,442             

Productivity bonus -                         90,400            

Reversal of unused productivity bonus provision -                         (90,400)          
Directors other expenses 88,958                  96,983             

130,288                133,780           

The directors' emoluments shown above (excluding pension contributions and other allowances) includes:
Chairman 19,979                   21,216              

Highest paid director 81,481                   83,861             

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17
Number Number

N10,000,000 - N20,000,000 4                             3                       

N20,000,001 - N30,000,000 -                         1                        

Above N30,000,000 1                              1                        

The number of employees of the Company, other than directors, who received emoluments in the following ranges (excluding pension 
contributions) were:

The number of directors who received fees and other emoluments (excluding pension contributions) in the following ranges was:
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29 Guarantees and other financial commitments

a

b Capital commitments:

c Financial commitments:

30 Related party transactions

Transactions with parent company

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

Profession and advisory services (SRM Partners) 249,916 240,560

Payable to SRM Partners Limited                              -            1,235,319 

Key management personnel

Key management compensation

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17
Fees and sitting allowances 21,075                   20,355             

Defined benefit scheme -                         -                   

Productivity bonus -                         90,400            

Reversal of unused productivity bonus provision -                         (90,400)          

Directors other expenses 88,958                  96,983             

110,033 117,338

Loans and advances to key management personnel*:

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17
Outstanding loan balance* -                         12,505             

Interest income -                         1,137                

*

31 Comparatives

The Company made payments of ₦249 million to the parent company SRM Partners as management fees during the year (2017: ₦240
million). 

The directors are of the opinion that all known liabilities and commitments have been taken into consideration in the preparation of
the accounts. 

There were no capital commitments as at 31 December 2018 (31 December 2017: Nil).

The Company in the ordinary course of business is presently involved in 10 (2017: 15) litigation cases amounting to N411.8 million.
There was no other contingent liabilities against the Company at the reporting date. (2017: Nil). 

The Company is controlled by SRM Partners Limited, which owns 75% of the Company’s shares. The remaining 25% of the shares are held 
by various individuals and organisations.

For better understanding, certain disclosures and some prior year figures have been presented in line with current year 
figures.

This relates to secured mortgage loan issued for a tenor of 20 years at contractual rate of 2% per annum. 

Key management personnel have been defined as directors of the Company.

Litigations and claims
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Value Added Statement

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17

N'000 % N'000 %
Fees and commissions 554,734 48             522,048 33       
Interest Income 1,227,068 106           1,969,697 125     
Other income 313,110 27             186,124 12       

2,094,912 181           2,677,869 170     
Interest expense 17,647               2               35,358               2         
Impairment charge on financial assets (28,170)             (2)              63,194               4         
Brought in goods and services - local (927,830)          (81)            (1,197,051)         (76)     

Value Added
Distribution of value added

To employees
  -  Staff cost 879,069 76 791,224 352

To the Government
  -  Income tax 181,994             16 9,547 (160)

  -  Depreciation & amortisation 246,241 21 104,713 40
(150,745) (13) 673,886 (132)

1,156,559 100 1,579,370 100

This statement shows the distribution of the wealth created by the Company through its own and employees' efforts, and
the allocation of that wealth among employees, government and that retained for future creation of more wealth. 

  -  Transfer to reserves

1,156,559      100        1,579,370      100

Retained in the business
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
* Restated

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17 31-Dec-16 31-Dec-15 31-Dec-14
₦'000 ₦'000 ₦'000 ₦'000 ₦'000

Assets
Cash and cash equivalent 11 810,033 2,298,809 897,809 281,471 980,482
Placements with financial institutions 12 750,790 9,829,384 8,870,332 36,404,452 27,280,229
Investment securities 13 9,959,052 6,174,928 5,936,661 5,115,596 4,684,234
Loans and accounts receivables 14 609,739 612,330 480,905 308,725 232,134
Other assets 15 267,989 832,035 1,342,282 728,936 515,582
Investment in associate 16 1,900,242            1,842,982                       -                         -                          -   
Intangible assets 17 65,757 43,647 19,380 7,439 16,225
Property and equipment 18 2,066,166 2,119,374 746,837 666,317 667,873
Asset held for sale 20 548,764                           -                         -                         -                          -   
Retirement benefit assets 25 202,932 100,970                         -                         -                          - 
Deferred tax assets 19 14,393 14,393              14,393                       -   78,126
Total Assets 17,195,857 23,868,852 18,308,599 43,512,936 34,454,885

Liabilities
Funds awaiting remittance 21 10,857,728 16,914,114 11,912,745 34,930,934 27,787,333
Other liabilities 22 1,716,045 1,825,057 461,256 1,166,437 1,186,920
Provisions for litigations and claims 23 899,790 843,592 735,156                       -                          -   
Income tax liability 24 366,241 263,341 989,400 1,179,925 1,394,475
Retirement benefits obligation                         -                             -   244,684 105,285 53,200
Deferred tax liability                         -                             -                         -   673,527 693,527
Total Liabilities 13,839,804 19,846,104 14,343,241 38,056,108 31,115,455

Shareholders' Equity
Share capital 23 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000

Fair value reserves 1,090,152               967,972                       -              967,340 -

Retained earnings 1,765,901 2,554,776 3,465,358 3,989,488 2,839,430

Total Shareholders’ Equity 3,356,053 4,022,748 3,965,358 5,456,828 3,339,430

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ 
Equity 17,195,857 23,868,852 18,308,599 43,512,936 34,454,885

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
* Restated

31-Dec-18 31-Dec-17 31-Dec-16 31-Dec-15 31-Dec-14
₦'000 ₦'000 ₦'000 ₦'000 ₦'000

 Gross earnings 2,129,071         2,746,032         3,758,576      5,211,392       4,468,987      

 (Loss)/profit  before tax 31,249              683,433             504,074         3,137,139       2,507,938      

 Tax (181,994)           (9,547)                342,137          (576,648)        (906,619)        

 (Loss)/profit after tax (150,745)           673,886             846,211          2,560,491      1,601,319        

(0.30) 1.35                1.69                 5.12                3.20 

Note

(Loss)/earnings per share - basic & diluted 
(N)
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